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I. Introduction   

Hamed opposes United’s motion for summary judgement regarding claim Y-9: 

Unreimbursed transfers to the Partnership from United. The amount of the original claim was 

$188,132.00. The claim concerns alleged transfers of United’s tenant account funds to the 

Partnership mainly in 1996.  After discovery was closed and depositions in January 2020 were 

taken, United added amounts allegedly due from 19951, 1997 and 1998.  United combined 

claims Y-7 and Y-9 into one motion.  In doing so, United conflated the facts and arguments 

between the two claims. Hamed has opted to respond separately to each claim to make the 

facts and arguments clearer. 

II. Hamed’s Counter-Statement of Material Facts (HCSOF) 
 
Money Laundering 
 

1. From 1996-2002, the US federal government alleged a vast money laundering scheme 

operated by United Corporation, Fathi and Mike Yusuf, Wally and Willy Hamed and 

others. On September 19, 2003, in United States of America v. Fathi Yusuf, et. al., 1:03-

cr-00147, the group was indicted on, among other things, money laundering, tax evasion 

and filing false corporate income tax returns. The Government described the extensive 

and high-value money laundering scheme as follows: 

9. Beginning at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing 
through at least in or about September, 2002, defendants FATHI YUSUF, 
WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and UNITED defrauded the Virgin 
Islands of money in the form of tax revenue, specifically territorial gross 
receipts taxes as well as corporate income taxes, by failing to report at least 
$60 million in Plaza Extra sales on gross receipts tax returns and corporate 
income tax returns. 

*  *  *  * 
11. Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and 
UNITED directed and caused Plaza Extra employees to withhold from 

 
1 The 1995 alleged amounts are not supported by any independent evidence -- bank 
statements or cancelled checks. As described below, the financial records generated by the 
controller for United are unreliable and untrustworthy.  
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deposit substantial amounts of cash received from sales, typically bills in 
denominations of $100, $50 and $20. Instead of being deposited into the 
bank accounts with other sales receipts, this cash was delivered to one of 
the defendants or placed in a designated safe in the cash room. From 1996 
through 2001, tens of millions of dollars in cash was withheld from deposit 
in this manner and as such, was not reported as gross receipts on tax 
returns filed by UNITED. 
 
12. In this way, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED 
HAMED and UNITED caused the filing of dozens of false monthly gross 
receipts tax returns, which failed to report the cash withheld from deposit as 
gross receipts, thereby depriving the Virgin Islands of substantial tax 
revenue. Defendant UNITED's controller prepared and signed Plaza Extra's 
monthly gross receipts tax returns, declaring under oath that the returns 
were true and complete, knowing full well that the returns were false in that 
they failed to report substantial sales receipts. 

*  *  *  * 
17. Defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED caused the checks 
and money orders described above to be deposited into foreign bank 
accounts they controlled. For example, defendants FATHI YUSUF and 
WALEED HAMED compiled the various checks and money orders obtained 
with unreported cash and caused them to be transported from the Virgin 
Islands to the Kingdom of Jordan ("Jordan"), where the funds were 
deposited into accounts they controlled at Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, 
Jordan. 

*  *  *  * 
19. Defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED smuggled and 
caused to be smuggled millions of dollars of unreported cash from the Virgin 
Islands to the island of St. Martin, in the French West Indies, where it was 
deposited into accounts at Banque Francaise Commerciale that they and 
defendant ISAM YOUSUF controlled. (Exhibit 1)  
 

2. Thus, in 1996, the Plaza Extra stores had plenty of funds to meet any obligations.  Wally 

Hamed testified under oath on January 21, 2020 that the volume of sales in St. Thomas 

after Hurricane Marilyn went up by maybe three, four or five times because of the 

hurricane. Wally Hamed noted that Plaza Extra was only one or two of the surviving 

grocery stores on St. Thomas after the hurricane. (Exhibit 2) It would not be an 

exaggeration to say that money was pouring into the Partnership at unprecedented 

levels. 
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3. This is supported by the US federal government’s January 4, 2005 draft analysis in the 

criminal case against United, the Yusufs and the Hameds. The analysis of the 1996 

summary gross income for Plaza Extra showed that over $8 million in sales simply 

disappeared—it went unreported to the Virgin Island’s Bureau of Internal Revenue 

(“VIBIR”). (Exhibit 3) Further, the sales data for the St. Croix store came directly 

from the VIBIR gross receipt tax forms, as the federal government did not have 

access to data showing actual sales.  Thus, it is conceivable that the over $8 million in 

unreported sales was too low a figure. (Exhibit 3) Unreported sales in 1997 and 1998 

for the stores were $7.1 million and a $13.9 million respectively. (Exhibit 3) 

4. With respect to the 1996 summary gross income for Plaza Extra, the US federal 

government’s January 4, 2005 draft analysis also showed that Fathi Yusuf deposited 

$2.8 million of these “missing” funds in two bank accounts associated with the 

Partnership in Banque Francaise Commerciale in 1996. (Exhibit 3) Wally Hamed also 

deposited over $1.1 million in a Banque Francaise Commerciale account associated 

with the Partnership in 1996. (Exhibit 3) Wally Hamed deposited approximately $3.7 

million in the Cairo Amman Bank in 1996 too, an account also associated with the 

Partnership. (Exhibit 3) Both Yusuf and Hamed deposited large sums of money in Virgin 

Islands and foreign bank accounts in 1997 and 1998 as well. (Exhibit 3) 

5. Therefore, the US federal government’s January 4, 2005 draft analysis concluded that 

the Partnership had over $60 million in unreported gross sales from 1996 through 2001. 

(Exhibit 3) 

6. Mike Yusuf, as President of United, testified as the 30(b)(6) deposition witness for 

United.  In his testimony, Mike Yusuf confirmed that he destroyed financial records of 

the Partnership. 
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A. [MIKE YUSUF]  2001, that's the -- the year that we had the raid. 
Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . .What -- approximately what date? 
A. October 23rd of 2001. 

*    *    *    * 
A. Okay. Sometime I would say a month and a half to 
two months before that, Waleed got a call from Waheed saying 
that something is going on. Some kind of agency is coming 
to spot check us, look at us. I -- I don't know the details 
of that. So among us, at that time, it was me, Mufeed and 
Waleed in the Plaza Extra East. . . 
the store in West was open at that 
time. 
So I left my store, and I came to East to -- 

*    *    *    * 
We just heard through the grapevine, 
something is happening. We didn't know. 
So between among us, we decided to destroy 
some of the receipts, because they were all in cash. We 
pulled out a good bit of receipts from the safes in Plaza 
East. Mufeed was present with me. He had a whole, a heap 
of receipts for the Hameds only. It could be from either 
one of the Hameds, once it's the Hamed. And receipts from 
the Yusuf, which basically was just me, not, you know, 
nobody else. 
Mufeed, I guess you call it, tallied, and, 
you know, put a tape on what they withdraw, and I put a 
tally, a tape, on what I withdraw.  

*    *    *    * 
Once everything dropped to the penny, we were 
fine, I said, Listen. I'm destroying my receipts. (Exhibit 4)  

 
7. By agreement between the parties and the Government on February 26, 2010, United 

admitted this when it pled guilty to one count of tax evasion. The case against the 

remaining defendants was dismissed with prejudice.  (Exhibit 5)  

8. In an expert opinion letter dated September 19, 2016, Lawrence Schoenbach, Esq., 

stated that it would be impossible to accurately reconstruct the financial records of 

United and the Plaza Extra stores from 1996 to September 2002 due to the vast money 

laundering scheme. 

According to the indictment, from "at least as early as in or about January 
1996 and continuing through at least in or about September 2002, 
defendant[] . . . UNITED defrauded the Virgin Islands of money in the form 
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of tax revenue, specifically territorial gross receipts taxes by failing to report 
at least $60 million in Plaza Extra sales on gross receipts tax returns and 
corporate income tax returns. 
 

*  *  *  * 
The scheme to skim funds from the stores (i.e. removal of funds from sales 
receipts before those funds are accounted for and taxes paid on them) is a 
classic white collar/business crime in which the purpose is to hide those 
funds from the governmental taxing authorities to avoid taxation, both 
regarding the receipt and disbursement. Most of such tax avoidance 
schemes require the removal of funds before accounting and/or the 
alteration of accounting records to reflect less cash received by the 
company than ultimately reported. The method used here, removal of funds 
prior to their being reported as sales, can be accomplished by several 
means, some of which were used here, to wit: those acting on behalf of the 
Company took cash out of sales before the Company could properly 
account for them. Another example of the fraudulent scheme involved 
cashing checks for third parties and then keeping and transacting the 
checks elsewhere. Cash was distributed without records or controls or those 
records were destroyed. 
 
The most fundamental feature of such a scheme is that the actual 
accounting records of the entity do not, and in fact cannot, accurately reflect 
the amount of cash taken in. No proper accounting can be determined from 
the Company's financial records because the gross receipts have been 
intentionally misapplied and documented. The very purpose of this sort of 
scheme is to render any accounting inaccurate. Moreover, any remaining 
records would have to be suspect because a criminal—with criminal intent 
and a criminal purpose -- would have created them. Further, because of the 
admitted lack of internal controls at United during the pre-2001 time period, 
there could be no legal or properly accurate way by which one could 
ascertain the correct amount of cash actually received or disbursed by the 
company. 
 
It is critical that the parties have both admitted that many records of 
transaction that should have gone into any accurate accounting were not 
kept or mutually and intentionally destroyed. For example, in his deposition, 
Mike Yusuf, President of United Corporation (and Fathi Yusuf's oldest son) 
testified that he and some of the Hamed brothers, upon hearing that the FBI 
was about to raid them in 2001, intentionally destroyed “a whole heap of” 
records (including those that would show where millions in cash partnership 
funds really went -- two months before the FBI raid and subsequent criminal 
charges). As such, there could be no way to verify the completeness of such 
records. Because the very nature of the crime, particularly money 
laundering/tax evasion, is to hide such incoming and outgoing funds from 
legitimate accounting it is impossible to determine and account for any 
portion of that amount each partner has or owes to the other. Since many 
such transactions were not recorded or destroyed, any remaining "records" 
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can never be legitimately credited or debited against the unknown amounts. 
(Exhibit 6)(footnotes omitted)  

 
Fathi Yusuf and Mohammad Hamed were Partners since 1984 

 
9. On September 25, 1999, Fathi Yusuf declared in an affidavit that his brother-in-law, 

Mohammad Hamed, has been his Partner in the Plaza Extra stores since 1984. 

2. My brother in law, Mohamed Hamed, and I have been full partners in the 
Plaza Extra Supermarket since 1984 while we were obtaining financing and 
constructing the store, which finally opened in 1986. (Exhibit 7)  

 
10. On February 2, 2000, Fathi Yusuf was deposed in Idheileh v. United Corp. and Fathi 

Yusuf, Territorial Court of the Virgin Islands, Division of St. Thomas and St. John, case 

no. 156/1997.  In his deposition, Yusuf asserted that both he and Mr. Mohammad 

Hamed have been Partners in the Plaza Extra grocery stores since 1984.   

A. [FATHI YUSUF] But I want you please to be aware that my partner’s 
with me since 1984, and up to now his name is not in my corporation. And 
that -- excuse me and that prove my honesty.  Because if I was not 
honest, my brother-in-law will not let me control his 50 percent.  And I 
know very well, my wife knows, my children knows, that whatever Plaza 
Extra owns in assets, in receivable or payable, we have a 50 percent 
partner. (Exhibit __) 23:18-25 (See, HAMD247596-HAMD247691.pdf at 
p.247618) 

* * * * 
Q. [FATHI YUSUF]. . . . You were asked by Attorney Adams  
when it says United Corporation in this Joint Venture 
Agreement, in talking about Plaza Extra, talking about the 
supermarket on St. Thomas, who owned or who was partners in 
United Corporation Plaza Extra at the time before you entered 
into that Joint Venture Agreement? 
A. [Fathi Yusuf] It's always, since 1984, Mohammed Hamed. 
Q. . . . .So when it says United Corporation – 
A. It's really meant me and Mr. Mohammed Hamed. (Exhibit 8)  
 

United and Fathi Yusuf had access to seized financial records as early as 2003 
 

11. In 2003, according to a declaration (dated July 8, 2009) in the criminal case, United 

States of America v. Fathi Yusuf Mohammed Yusuf et. al., Criminal No. 2005-015 (DE 

1148-1), FBI Special Agent Thomas L. Petri stated that counsel for the defendants, 



Hamed Opposition to United’s Motion for Summary Judgment re Claim Y-9 
Unreimbursed Transfers to Partnership from United - Page 8 
 

including United, were allowed complete access to review the seized Plaza Extra 

documents. 

7. In 2003, subsequent to the return of the indictment, counsel for 
defendants was afforded complete access to seized evidence. Attorney 
Robert King, the attorney then representing defendants, reviewed the 
discovery at the FBI office on St. Thomas. He and a team of approximately 
four or five individuals reviewed evidence for several weeks. They brought 
with them a copier and made many copies of documents. (Exhibit 9)  
 

12. In 2004, according to a declaration (dated July 8, 2009) in the criminal case, United 

States of America v. Fathi Yusuf Mohammed Yusuf et. al., Criminal No. 2005-015 (DE 

1148-1), FBI Special Agent Thomas L. Petri stated that up to ten people for the defense, 

including the United Corporation, reviewed the seized Plaza Extra and United 

documents.  Special Agent Petri noted that the defense team spent several weeks 

reviewing the evidence and had one copier and one scanner with them to make images 

of the evidence.  Petri confirmed that the defense team had “unfettered access” to the 

documents and were permitted to review any box of documents at any time. 

8. In 2004, a different set of attorneys presently representing the defendants 
reviewed the evidence seized in the course of the execution of the search 
warrants. By my estimation, document review team included up to ten 
people at any one time. The defense team spent several weeks reviewing 
the evidence. They had with them at least one copier and one scanner with 
which they made numerous copies and images of the evidence. 

9. During the 2004 review, the defense team was afforded unfettered 
access to discovery. They were permitted to review any box of documents 
at any time, including evidence seized during the searches, foreign bank 
records, documents obtained either consensually or by grand jury 
subpoena, and FBI Forms 302. The defense team pulled numerous boxes 
at one time with many different people reviewing different documents from 
different boxes. (Exhibit 9)  

13. On March 22, 2017, Gordon Rhea, Esq. signed a declaration.  He stated that there was 

a Joint Defense Agreement between all of the defendants, except Isam Yousef, in the 
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criminal case, United States of America v. Fathi Yusuf Mohammed Yusuf et. al., Criminal 

No. 2005-015. 

3. I was one of the defense lawyers in the criminal action filed by the United 
States of America in the District Court of the Virgin Islands (St. Thomas 
Division), Docket No,1:05-cr-00015, against the following defendants: 
 
FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF, aka Fathi Yusuf 
WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Wally Hamed 
WAHEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Willie Hamed 
MAHER FATHI YUSUF, aka Mike Yusuf 
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, 
ISAM YUSUF, and 
UNITED CORPORATION 

 
4. All of the defendants in that criminal case, except for Isam Yousef who 
was never apprehended, were represented jointly by multiple counsel, 
including myself, under a Joint Defense Agreement. 
 
5. Pursuant to the Joint Defense Agreement, all defense counsel worked 
together on behalf of all of the represented defendants in a joint effort to 
defend the case. (Exhibit 10) 

 
Plaza Extra financial records from 1996-2002 were untrustworthy  

 
14. On August 1, 2003, John Benson “Ben” Irvin was interviewed by FBI Special Agent 

Thomas L. Petri.  Irvin was the financial controller for Plaza Extra, despite not having a 

formal education in tax accounting. (Exhibit 11) During the interview, Irvin described the 

process for determining Plaza Extra store sales. Irvin stated that Fathi Yusuf told him 

that store sales were to be based on deposits.  Irvin noted that Yusuf was very emphatic 

on this point and Irvin didn’t inquire further on the subject of sales. Irvin also knew the 

store had a point of sales system that would give accurate store sales figures, but he 

was not allowed access to that system. Finally, Yusuf told Irvin that he did not need to 

conduct internal financial audits. 

IRVIN was told by FATHI YUSUF that store sales would be based on 
deposits. IRVIN said that normal accounting procedures allow accountants 
to conduct internal audits. IRVIN advised that YUSUF told him that internal 
audits were being handled and to simply continue to use deposits to 
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calculate sales. IRVIN said that YUSUF told him this early on and that 
YUSUF was very emphatic. IRVIN never revisited the subject of sales with 
YUSUF and continued to base sales on daily deposits.  
 
IRVIN advised that PLAZA EXTRA used a Point of Sales system. IRVIN 
stated that he was not allowed to use or access the system. . . .IRVIN stated 
that he was aware that the Point of Sales system reported accurate store 
sales. IRVIN said that there was an understanding that he was not suppose 
to have access to true sales figures. (Exhibit 11)  

 
15. In that same August 1, 2003 FBI interview, Ben Irvin also stated he was instructed at 

times to make the inventory for a particular year come out to a set number.  For instance, 

in February and March 1999, he was told by Fathi Yusuf to make the inventory number 

come out to $3 million.  Yusuf wanted to do this in order to show a lower net income.  In 

other words, it was a way for Yusuf to artificially lower the amount of taxes owed by the 

Plaza Extra stores. Thus, any financial records from this time were total fiction. 

IRVIN was shown copies of February and March of 1999 gross receipts 
sales tax figures. IRVIN stated that he had a discussion with FATHI YUSUF 
concerning cost of goods sold. YUSUF told IRVIN that it was not possible 
to determine actual numbers for cost of goods sold. Per YUSUF'S 
instructions, IRVIN was told to determine cost of goods sold in whatever 
manner would reflect approximately $3 million in year ending inventory for 
each store. IRVIN also had conversations with WILLIE HAMED concerning 
cost of goods sold and what the average markup on merchandise was. 
IRVIN said that HAMED was not specific but understood that YUSUF 
wanted ending inventory to be around $3 million. IRVIN advised that to 
determine cost of goods sold he would use a formula reflecting a 42% 
markup, or more often than not, simply plug in numbers so the $3 million 
number would be met. 
 
IRVIN stated that the reason YUSUF wanted the number for inventory to be 
around $3 million for each store was to show a lower net income. If taxable 
income was too high, YUSUF would tell IRVIN to adjust cost of goods sold 
to show a decrease in the companies profit. IRVIN stated YUSUF normally 
had him adjust the numbers presented to him which reflected cost of goods 
sold. (Exhibit 11)  

 
16. Finally, during the August 1, 2003 FBI interview, Ben Irvin noted that he looked at the 

United corporate tax returns to make sure Irvin’s numbers matched the numbers the 
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CPA, Pablo O’Neill, recorded on United’s tax returns.  If O’Neill made any adjustments, 

Irvin requested that the adjustments be sent to him so his entries would match O’Neills. 

IRVIN advised that he looked at the corporate tax returns to insure that 
PABLO O'NEILL'S numbers matched his. If O'NEILL made any 
adjustments, IRVIN requested that they be sent to him so that he could 
make corrected entries to match PABLO O'NEILL'S numbers. IRVIN said 
that he could think of no reason why the 4% Gross Sales Tax figures and 
the numbers on the general ledgers would differ from the corporate returns. 
(Exhibit 11)  

 
17.  Mike Yusuf, President of United, testified at his deposition that he did not know why the 

Yusuf family-owned United tenant bank account was transferring money to the 

Partnership.  He did not dispute the fact that this was just a normal part of the movement 

of funds in such a laundering scheme.  He could not identify the reason for the transfer 

– he did not know whether the Partnership owed money to United or whether United 

was reimbursing the Partnership for an expense the Partnership paid on its behalf.  

Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .For the amounts that were transferred over, 
the -- let's say -- let's go about the first one, the 
15,900, do you have any particular recollection as to why  
there was a transfer for 15,900 to Plaza partnership 
account? (193:23-194:2) 

* * * * 
Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . .So this one is a specific amount, 15,900. 
Do you have -- let me ask you, what would 
have -- first of all, do you have any recollection of this 
particular entry? 
A. [MIKE YUSUF] No. I don't have recollection of the amounts, no.  

* * * * 
Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .Other than 1996, do you recall any other 
times where there were amounts going. . . 
from the United tenant account into the 
Plaza Extra partnership account? When you were doing these 
transfers back and forth, do you recall that? 
A. [MIKE YUSUF] No, no, these are all the checks going into -- 
directly to the -- the operating account for Plaza. 
Q. . . . .Other than in 1996 -- these are just 1996. 
A. Right. 
Q. Other than 1996, there seem to be quite -- it 
happened regularly. Other than 1996, was that something 
that was occurring?  
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A. I don't remember. 
* * * * 

A. I don't remember. I mean, I was dependent on Ben 
Irvin to keep the record with the -- with the tenant 
account. (Exhibit 12)  

 
18. Money flowed like water between these entities, directed by Fathi Yusuf, who routinely 

used Partnership funds to pay for expenses for the Yusuf family-owned United Shopping 

Center expenses and personal matters.  (Group Exhibit 13) 

19. The federal monitors, brought in to provide oversight on United’s financials during the 

pendency of the criminal case, allowed expenditures to be made out of the Yusuf family-

owned tenant account and the Partnership bank accounts, despite those accounts being 

under a court imposed injunction.  For example, United was allowed to use the tenant 

bank account to fund the building of a home on St. Thomas for Fathi Yusuf’s son, Nejeh 

Yusuf, to fund and open a laundromat in United’s name.  Plaza Extra also was allowed 

to make capital expenditures at the Plaza Extra East store for new shelves. (Exhibit 14) 

If the alleged transfers of funds to Plaza was for a legitimate purpose, there was no 

reason why United couldn’t have requested authorization for repayment from the 

monitors prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations on those claims. 

No agreement, history or course of dealing for United to claim special treatment 
 

20. On May 29, 2018, Hamed requested the Court’s guidance regarding United’s claim of 

“special” treatment, Hamed Motion for Court Assistance and Directions re Special 

Master Ross's May 21st Order, Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370 (May 29, 2018) at 2: 

The thrust of this inquiry arises from the fact that each time Yusuf or United 
is found to have taken Partnership funds for their own uses, they argue that 
there was a "special arrangement" or an unwritten provision of the 
"Partnership Agreement" that allows this inequality.  
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Hamed argued in his motion that 26 V.I.C. § 44 requires that the partnership agreement 

dictates the terms of the partnership.  When there is no written partnership agreement, 

26 V.I.C. § 44 controls.   

But, absent a written agreement, what are the "terms" of the partnership? 
Missing or unclear terms are supplied by the Act. See 26 V.I.C. § 44 (Effect 
of partnership agreement; nonwaivable provisions.) 

  
(a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (b) of this section, 

relations among the partners and between the partners and the 
partnership are governed by the partnership agreement. To the 
extent the partnership agreement does not otherwise provide, 
this chapter governs relations among the partners and between 
the partners and the partnership. (Emphasis added)(footnote 
omitted).  

 
See, e.g., Bunnell v. Lewis, No. 05-92-02558-CV, 1993 WL 290781, at *5 
(Tex. App. July 27, 1993), writ denied (Mar. 9, 1994) ("A partnership is an 
association of two or more persons to carry on a business for profit as co-
owners. . . . In the absence of agreement on other terms, the Texas Uniform 
Partnership Act supplies the missing terms. See Park Cities Corp. v. Byrd, 
534 S.W.2d 668, 672 (Tex. 1976).") 
 
Fortunately, once a partnership is determined to exist, one partner cannot 
make up, "explain" or dictate the rights, relative authority and power of the 
partners -- as these are set by statute in the Virgin Islands: 
 
26 V.I.C. § 71 Partner's rights and duties 

 
* * * * 

(f) Each partner has equal rights in the management and conduct of the 
partnership business. Id. at 4. 

 
21. In a June 25, 2018 Order, Judge Brady noted that thus far in the case, “no findings have 

been made detailing with specificity the duties, responsibilities, benefits and obligations 

of each partner, including whether any benefits are due United and its shareholders 

during the period relevant to the issues and claims being addressed by the Master.” 

Order re Special Master, Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370 (June 25, 2018) at 2. To 

determine whether any benefits are due United and its shareholders, Judge Brady 
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ordered that the following factors be considered: 1) the partners’ agreements, 2) history 

and 3) course of dealing. 

ORDERED that the Master is directed to proceed to conduct such 
evidentiary proceedings as are deemed appropriate to make factual 
findings necessary to permit full consideration of the claims of the 
partners, including the determination of the duties, responsibilities, 
benefits and obligations of each partner, including whether any benefits 
are due United and its shareholders, in light of the partners' 
agreements, history and course of dealing; and to report and make 
recommendations regarding the claims and the distribution of 
partnership assets in light of such findings. . . Id. at 3. 

 
22. Fathi Yusuf testified in his deposition on April 2, 2014, that the only time the Partners 

reconciled the Partnership accounts between them was on December 31, 1993.   

A. [FATHI YUSUF] After we go and sees who and who takes who, if I 
take ten dollars more than them, and I take ten, they have 
the right to take it. That's when we go to the book and 
reconciliate our account between each other. 
But up to now, unfortunate, we have never 
done that since the past 25 years. Only, I'm sorry, up to 
December 31st, 1993. That books was closed by that day. We 
was even on that day, on whatever left Plaza Extra. (Exhibit 15)  

 
23. Fathi Yusuf has not provided any evidence of a written or oral agreement between him 

and Mohammad Hamed to have the Partnership’s books reconciled in United’s favor at 

Fathi Yusuf’s discretion. 

III. Argument 
 

United’s motion for summary judgment with respect to claim Y-9—Unreimbursed 

transfers should be denied for three distinct procedural reasons and the claim should be found 

as untimely filed and outside of the SOL pertaining to the claim: 

1. United did not file its claim within the timeframe required by Judge Brady’s January 

9, 2015 Wind Up Order and the Special Master’s August 31, 2016 directive. 

2. Even if it is assumed that United filed its claim within the requirements set forth by 

Judge Brady and Special Master, the claim is untimely under Judge Brady’s July 25, 
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2017 Order re Limitations on Accounting, which bars claims occurring prior to 

September 17, 2006. 

3. United’s claim is outside of the normal statute of limitations. 

Further, the Court or the Special Master cannot rely on the Partnership’s accounting 

prior to 2001 due to the widespread and vast money laundering scheme undertaken by the 

Partnership to avoid paying taxes.  It is impossible to tell whether funds deposited in the Yusuf 

family-owned United bank account (“tenant account”) were solely generated from the United 

Shopping Center rents or were Partnership funds moved in and out of United’s bank account. 

It is also impossible to tell whether the Partnership owed United money or whether United was 

reimbursing the Partnership for expenses the Partnership paid on United’s behalf.  Because 

United cannot sustain its burden of proof that the Partnership owed it any money, the motion 

should be denied.  

There are no circumstances warranting the tolling of the statute of limitations with 

respect to the United’s claim.  United’s claim should be denied as being outside of the statute 

of limitations. 

Finally, there are many disputes concerning material facts which also warrant denying 

United’s summary judgment claim. 

A. United did not file its claims within the timeframe set forth by the Special Master 
 

Pursuant to the "Final Wind Up Plan Of The Plaza Extra Partnership," entered on 

January 9, 2015 (the "Plan"), § 9, Step 6, and the August 31, 2016 directive of the Master, as 

clarified on September 22, 2016, any entity or party with a claim was required to submit that 

claim on or before September 30, 2016.   

 On September 30, 2016, Defendant/counterclaimant Fathi Yusuf (“Yusuf') submitted his 

Accounting Claims and Proposed Distribution Plan (the "Claim"). United did not do so. United 
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claims that it has some rights or claims as a totally distinct third-party, unrelated to Fathi Yusuf’s 

Partners’ claims—but if that is so, Fathi Yusuf’s September 30th, 2016 filing was not United’s 

filing. United cannot have it both ways.  Therefore, United did not bring its claim under the 

timeframe set forth by the Special Master. 

B. United’s claims are barred by Judge Brady’s July 25th, 2017 Order re Limitations 
on Accounting  

 
On July 25, 2017, Judge Brady limited claims to transactions that occurred on or after 

September 17, 2006. 

ORDERED that the accounting in this matter, to which each partner is entitled 
under 26 V.I.C § 177(b), conducted pursuant to the Final Wind Up Plan adopted 
by the Court, shall be limited in scope to consider only those claimed credits and 
charges to partner accounts, within the meaning of 26 V.I.C § 71(a), based upon 
transactions that occurred on or after September 17, 2006. Order re Limitations 
on Accounting, Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370 at 34 (July 25,2017) 
 

Under Judge Brady’s Order, United’s claim is barred because all of the transactions in claim 

Y-9-Unreimbursed Transfers occurred in 1998 or earlier. (United Exhibits 9, 9A, 11, 13 and 

15) 

C. United’s claims are barred by the Statute of Limitations (SOL) – 5 V.I.C. §31(3) 

United also claims that it is not bound by Judge Brady’s July 25th, 2017 SOL/laches 

Order because it is not one of the parties to the Partnership.  If that is true, United is subject to 

the normal statute of limitations applicable to any civil litigant.  Pursuant to 5 V.I.C. §31(3), the 

statute of limitations for actions for debt, breach of contract and conversion of property is 6 

years. It is undisputed that the SOL on all of these claims expired years ago, between the years 

2000 and 2004, depending on the specific claim.  Some even expired prior to the October 2001 

FBI raid. Thus, United’s Y-9 claims are barred by 5 V.I.C. §31(3). 
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D. United does not enjoy “special benefits” exempting it from the SOL 

In June 25, 2018 Order, Judge Brady noted that thus far in the case, “no findings have 

been made detailing with specificity the duties, responsibilities, benefits and obligations of each 

partner, including whether any benefits are due United and its shareholders during the period 

relevant to the issues and claims being addressed by the Master.” (HCSOF ¶ 21) To determine 

whether any benefits are due United and its shareholders, Judge Brady ordered that the 

following factors be considered: 1) the partners’ agreements, 2) history and 3) course of 

dealing. (HCSOF ¶ 21) 

United has not produced any evidence, other than Fathi Yusuf’s self-serving affidavit, 

that there was an agreement between the Partners that allowed United avoid the statute of 

limitations on demands for repayment made to the Partnership. Mr. Mohammad Hamed never 

testified to any such agreement. United has not produced any written document articulating 

this alleged agreement either.  United also has failed to demonstrate any history or course of 

dealing to show that United could demand payment at any time.  The only reconciliation that 

United can point to is the reconciliation done in 1993, hardly evidence of a history of 

reconciliations or course of dealings.2 .” (HCSOF ¶ 22) 

United tries to springboard the Partnership’s payment of rent as evidence that United 

was not bound by statute of limitations and could demand payment for alleged debts from the 

Partnership at any time.  This is simply untrue.  The Court found the rent payments proper 

 
2 There was no “open account” between the Partnership and the United Corporation, as stated 
by Fathi Yusuf.  The two entities only did one reconciliation in 1993.  The case cited by Yusuf, 
In re Estate of Vanderpool, 2010 VI Lexis 113 (V.I. Super. Dec. 30, 2010), involved a care 
facility that charged routinely for its services and “not more than one year elapsed between any 
of the services provided or demands for payment.” Id. at *6.  Here there was no routine back 
and forth of payments between the two parties, making the present situation distinguishable 
from Vanderpool. In any event, no matter what SOL date is used, United is out of time to bring 
its claim. 
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because, according to the Court, Hamed stated that the Partnership agreed to pay rent on the 

Plaza Extra East store.  No such agreement is present here. 

E. The Partnership’s accounting prior to 2001 is unreliable and not trustworthy 

1. The Partnership operated a vast and widespread money laundering scheme, 
rendering its accounting unreliable 

 
According to the expert opinion of Lawrence Schoenbach, Esq., a white-collar criminal 

defense attorney since 1980, it would be impossible to accurately reconstruct the financial 

records of United and the Plaza Extra stores from 1996 to September 2002 due to the vast 

money laundering scheme.  Attorney Schoenbach stated: 

The method used here, removal of funds prior to their being reported as sales, 
can be accomplished by several means, some of which were used here, to wit: 
those acting on behalf of the Company took cash out of sales before the 
Company could properly account for them. Another example of the fraudulent 
scheme involved cashing checks for third parties and then keeping and 
transacting the checks elsewhere. Cash was distributed without records or 
controls or those records were destroyed. 
 
The most fundamental feature of such a scheme is that the actual accounting 
records of the entity do not, and in fact cannot, accurately reflect the amount of 
cash taken in. No proper accounting can be determined from the Company's 
financial records because the gross receipts have been intentionally misapplied 
and documented. The very purpose of this sort of scheme is to render any 
accounting inaccurate. Moreover, any remaining records would have to be 
suspect because a criminal—with criminal intent and a criminal purpose -- would 
have created them. Further, because of the admitted lack of internal controls at 
United during the pre-2001 time period, there could be no legal or properly 
accurate way by which one could ascertain the correct amount of cash actually 
received or disbursed by the company. (HCSOF ¶ 8) 

 
 During the time these claims were made, the US federal government estimated that the 

stores made over $60 million in unreported income. (HCSOF ¶¶ 1, 5) Further, there were no 

financial controls on Partnership’s accounting. (HCSOF ¶ 14) Finally, Mike Yusuf testified that 

he had destroyed some of the financial records of the Partnership. (HCSOF ¶ 6)  

 Given the unreliable nature of the Partnership’s accounting, United cannot meet its 

burden of proof to show that the “transfers” of funds are actually owed United. 1) United can’t 
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prove that the funds in its tenant account were generated from the Shopping Center’s rents 

versus the Partnership depositing the funds in the tenant account at some prior date. 2) United 

can’t prove that it wasn’t reimbursing Plaza Extra for expenses the Partnership made on United 

Shopping Center’s behalf. (HCSOF ¶ 18) Finally, even the President of United, Mike Yusuf, 

couldn’t testify as to the reasons for the transfer of funds to Plaza. (HCSOF ¶ 17) 

2. The work product of the Partnership’s controller, Ben Irvin, was untrustworthy 

The Partnership financials prepared by the controller from 1995-2001, Ben Irvin, are 

untrustworthy.  Mr. Irvin stated in an interview with the FBI that he took direction from Fathi 

Yusuf when preparing the financials. (HCSOF ¶¶ 14-15) Mr. Irvin said Fathi Yusuf told him that 

store sales were to be based on deposits. (HCSOF ¶ 14) Irvin noted that Yusuf was very 

emphatic on this point and Irvin didn’t inquire further on the subject of sales, even though he 

knew there was a point of sales system that could generate accurate sales data. (HCSOF ¶ 

14) Yusuf told Irvin that he did not need to conduct internal financial audits. (HCSOF ¶ 14) Ben 

Irvin also said Fathi Yusuf instructed him at times to make the inventory for a particular year 

come out to a pre-determined number. (HCSOF ¶ 15) Finally, Irvin noted that he looked at the 

United corporate tax returns to make sure Irvin’s numbers matched the numbers the CPA, 

Pablo O’Neill, recorded on United’s tax returns. (HCSOF ¶ 16) If O’Neill made any adjustments, 

Irvin requested that the adjustments be sent to him so his entries would match O’Neill’s. 

(HCSOF ¶ 16) 

F. The doctrine of equitable tolling does not apply to United 

1. The documents in the criminal case were made available to United in 2003 

In 2003, according to a declaration (dated July 8, 2009) in the criminal case, United 

States of America v. Fathi Yusuf Mohammed Yusuf et. al., Criminal No. 2005-015, Special 

Agent Thomas L. Petri stated that subsequent to the return of the indictment, counsel for 
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defendants (including United) was afforded complete access to seized evidence. (HCSOF ¶ 

11) Attorney Robert King, the attorney then representing defendants, reviewed the discovery 

at the FBI office on St. Thomas. According to Special Agent Petri, Attorney King and a team of 

approximately four or five individuals reviewed evidence for several weeks. They brought with 

them a copier and made many copies of documents. (HCSOF ¶ 11) 

Also in 2004, according to Special Agent Petri, counsel for defendants had up to ten 

people for the defense, including United, review the seized Plaza Extra and United documents 

again.  Special Agent Petri noted that the defense team spent several weeks reviewing the 

evidence and had one copier and one scanner with them to make images of the evidence.  

(HCSOF ¶ 12) Petri confirmed that the defense team had “unfettered access” to the documents 

and were permitted to review any box of documents at any time. (HCSOF ¶ 12) 

While Fathi Yusuf personally may have not looked at the documents seized by the FBI 

until 2010, lawyers, operating under a Joint Defense Agreement for all of the defendants—

including Fathi Yusuf personally and United—had ample access to the documents in 2003 and 

2004. (HCSOF ¶¶ 11-13) Thus, United’s argument that the SOL should be tolled to lack of 

access to the documents seized by the FBI must fail – United had access to the documents 

during the SOL time period. 

2. There was a recognized entity to sue in 2004 and 2008 

Contrary to Yusuf’s assertions, there was an entity in 2004 and 2008 – the Partnership.  

In 1999 and again in 2000, Fathi Yusuf stated under oath that he and Mr. Mohammad Hamed 

had been partners since 1984. (HCSOF ¶¶ 9-10) Further, during the pendency of the criminal 

case, United could have asked the federal monitors to have the Partnership pay back the 

transfers to the tenant account, assuming they were legitimate expenses. The federal monitors 

approved expenditures throughout the criminal case.  For example, the monitors approved 
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payments for the taxes of United shareholders, allowed United to expend funds to start a 

laundromat, buy shelves for Plaza Extra and pay for the construction of Nejeh Yusuf’s home 

on St. Thomas.  (HCSOF ¶ 19) There is no record of Fathi Yusuf requesting re-payment for the 

alleged transfers to the Partnership. Since both the Partnership and the tenant bank accounts 

were under an injunction, the likelihood of success of moving funds from one account to the 

other, assuming it was a legitimate expense, was great. 

3. The criminal case was no bar to United complying with the SOL 

Yusuf seems to contend that the criminal case was somehow a bar to United complying 

with the SOL. There is no legal support for this contention and no factual basis. There is no 

such doctrine. See below to response to same argument with regard to YSOF #9 at 24. 

4. There was no benefit to the Partnership in delaying repayment of alleged monies 
owed 

 
Fathi Yusuf incorrectly states that 1) there was an agreement between him and Mr. 

Mohammad Hamed that allowed Fathi Yusuf to request re-payment of debts at any time and 

2) the delay in requesting payment of the alleged debt was a benefit to the Partnership.   

However, Fathi Yusuf has not provided any proof of an agreement where Mr. Mohammad 

Hamed affirmatively agreed to allow Yusuf to request of re-payment of alleged debts for his 

corporation at any time.  Mohammad Hamed did not testify in his deposition that such an 

agreement existed and Fathi Yusuf has not provided any written agreement to that effect either.   

 Contrary to Fathi Yusuf’s assertions, the Partnership in 1996-1998 had plenty of money 

to operate and pay its debts. The US federal government estimated that the Partnership had 

between $7.1 to $13.9 million in unreported gross sales from 1996-1998 and that amount is on 

top of the reported sales of $36-$40 million for the stores. (HCSOF ¶¶ 2-5) Yusuf’s claim that 

the stores were cash strapped and needed funds was false. 
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IV. Opposition to United’s Statement of Material Facts 

A. United’s Rule 56 Statement of Fact (“USOF”) 

United submitted its Rule 56 Statement of Undisputed Facts (USOF) in Section III of its 

motion. Pursuant to V.I.R. Civ. P. 56 (c)(2)(B), Hamed admits USOF ¶¶ 2, 8, 10 for the limited 

purposes of this Opposition. Further, USOF ¶ 7 pertain to Yusuf’s Y-7 claim, Unpaid Ledger 

Balances, and will be addressed in Hamed’s Opposition to United’s Summary Judgment Motion 

for claim Y-7.  The following USOF ¶¶ 1, 3-6, 9, 11-13 are disputed for the following reasons: 

YSOF #1. The United Shopping Center, which is owned by United Corporation 
(“United”) and located in St. Croix, has 36 bays or retail spaces. See Exhibit 14 
(Floorplan of United Shopping Center). Bay 1, the largest bay, was occupied by 
Plaza Extra-East under a rental agreement with United. Bays 5 and 8 were 
sometimes rented to third parties, but more often used to store Plaza Extra 
inventory. The remaining Bays were rented to third parties. See Exhibit 14. 

Response:  Bays 5 and 8 were used from time to time by the Plaza Extra East store.  However, 

the Bays were not use for a fixed period of time nor was there a rental agreement in place 

between United and the Partnership.  Indeed, the Plaza Extra inventory had to be moved out 

of the bays each time United secured a paying tenant. 

YSOF #3.  3. Judge Brady ruled in an April 27, 2015 Opinion and Order that 
United was entitled to rent for Bay 1 for the 1994 to 2004 time period in the 
amount of $3,999,679.73, notwithstanding Hamed’s statute of limitations 
defense. April 27, 2015 Opinion and Order, p. 10. 

 
Response:  Judge Brady’s ruling found that there was an agreement between Yusuf and 

Mohmmad Hamed to pay rent on Bay 1. April 27, 2015 Opinion and Order, p. 4.  Because of 

that agreement, Judge Brady stated that the “acknowledgement of the debt” doctrine and the 

“payment on account” doctrine tolled the statute of limitations. No such agreement is present 

with respect to the amounts made in this claim, Y-9 Unreimbursed Transfers. 

YSOF #4. Hurricane Marilyn struck the islands in September 1995, and the 
partnership was “absolutely broke” as a result in 1996. See Exhibit 1, 1/21/20 
Dep. Tr., p. 239 (testimony of Fathi Yusuf). Because the partnership was in dire 
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need of cash in 1996, Mr. Yusuf concluded that he had “to put my rent money 
into the store….” Id. at 239. 
 

Response:  This statement is completely false.  Wally Hamed testified under oath on January 

21, 2020 that the volume of sales in St. Thomas after Hurricane Marilyn went up by maybe 

three, four or five times because of the hurricane.  (HCSOF ¶ 2) Wally Hamed noted that Plaza 

Extra was only one or two of the surviving grocery stores on St. Thomas. (HCSOF ¶ 2) Wally 

Hamed’s recollection is supported by the US federal government’s January 4, 2005 draft 

analysis in the criminal case of the 1996 summary gross income for Plaza Extra. That analysis 

showed that over $8 million in sales went unreported to the Virgin Island’s Bureau of Internal 

Revenue (“VIBIR”).  (HCSOF ¶ 3) Further, the sales data for the St. Croix store came directly 

from the VIBIR gross receipt tax forms, as the federal government did not have access to data 

showing actual sales. (HCSOF ¶ 3) It is conceivable that the over $8 million in unreported sales 

was too low a figure. Unreported sales in 1997 and 1998 for the stores were $7.1 million and 

a $13.0 million respectively. (HCSOF ¶ 3) Finally, The US federal government’s January 4, 

2005 draft analysis concluded that the Partnership had over $60 million in unreported gross 

sales from 1996 through 2001, hardly evidence of a cash strapped entity. (HCSOF ¶ 5) 

YSOF #5. United’s comptroller, Ben Irvin, prepared monthly ledgers for United’s 
tenant account which reflected the activity in the account including payments 
made from United’s tenant account and reconciled this activity with the 
Community Bank monthly bank statements, and these are included in Exhibit 9. 
See Exhibit 1, pp. 193-194 (testimony of Mike Yusuf). These monthly ledgers 
show transfers from United’s tenant account to Plaza Extra supermarket 
(partnership) accounts. These transfers are marked in red on Exhibit 9 and in the 
corresponding Community Bank statements that make up Exhibit 9A. The sum of 
the 1996 transfers is $188,132.00. See Exhibit 9, p. 1 (setting forth the tabulation 
of amounts transferred). 
 
And 
 
YSOF #6.  Additional monthly ledgers were prepared in 1995, 1997 and 1998 
showing amounts paid from United’s tenant account to a Plaza Extra 
(partnership) account. See Exhibits 6, 10 and 13. These were prepared by Ben 
Irvin or at his direction as he served as the Comptroller in the 1990’s until early 
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2000’s. See Exhibit 6 - Declaration of Fathi Yusuf, ¶ 1. The accounting records 
showing payments or transfers from United’s tenant account, along with the 
corresponding monthly bank statements reflecting those same transfers, are 
attached as Exhibit 10 (with highlighting of transfers in both sets of documents). 
Three of the 1995 transfers are those totaling $120,000 that Mike Yusuf 
personally made by check that are reflected in Exhibit 11 and are already part of 
United’s claim Y-7, and there are two others totaling $11,500. See Exhibits 11 
and 13. In 1997, transfers took place on January, February, March and April, 
1997 and April, 1998, in the amounts of $44,400 and $10,000, respectively. See 
Exhibit 10. 
 

Response:  This is also a contested statement.  Financial records prepare by Ben Irvin are 

untrustworthy. (HCSOF ¶¶ 14-16)  Further, according to the expert opinion of Lawrence 

Schoenbach, Esq., a white-collar criminal defense attorney since 1980, it would be impossible 

to accurately reconstruct the financial records of United and the Plaza Extra stores from 1996 

to September 2002 due to the vast money laundering scheme. (HCSOF ¶ 8) No conclusions 

can be made whether the Partnership actually owes the amounts United claims it owes 

because, as Schoenbach notes: 

The most fundamental feature of such a scheme is that the actual 
accounting records of the entity do not, and in fact cannot, accurately reflect 
the amount of cash taken in. No proper accounting can be determined from 
the Company's financial records because the gross receipts have been 
intentionally misapplied and documented. The very purpose of this sort of 
scheme is to render any accounting inaccurate. Moreover, any remaining 
records would have to be suspect because a criminal—with criminal intent 
and a criminal purpose -- would have created them. Further, because of the 
admitted lack of internal controls at United during the pre-2001 time period, 
there could be no legal or properly accurate way by which one could 
ascertain the correct amount of cash actually received or disbursed by the 
company. (HCSOF ¶ 8) 
 

Indeed, even Mike Yusuf, President of United, couldn’t testify as to the reasons for the transfer 

of funds to Plaza. (HCSOF ¶ 17) He also testified that some of the Partnership’s financial 

records had been destroyed in 2001. (HCSOF ¶ 6) 

YSOF #9. The theory of the prosecution was that United Corporation, a 
corporation owned by Fathi Yusuf and his family members—and not an 
undocumented, oral Hamed/Yusuf partnership— owned and operated the Plaza 
Extra supermarkets and was responsible for paying income and gross receipts 



Hamed Opposition to United’s Motion for Summary Judgment re Claim Y-9 
Unreimbursed Transfers to Partnership from United - Page 25 
 

taxes on store revenues. The criminal defense lawyers instructed Yusuf and the 
other defendants not to take any action that would support the existence of a 
partnership, and thereby draw Mohammad Hamed (who was not named in the 
indictment) into the criminal case. See Exhibit 6, Declaration of Fathi Yusuf, ¶ 4. 

 
Response:  That was one of many alternate theories of the defense.  This claims process is a 

matter of allocation of “real” amounts NOW in a “real amounts” claims process.  Yusuf is 

arguing that because this was once one of MANY positions taken, Hamed is forever estopped 

from pointing out the actual facts or what really happened—and what is really owed. Fine. If 

this is to be the rule in this case, Yusuf repeatedly said he was not a partner in this Partnership, 

and is, therefore, forever barred from ANYTHING from the Partnership. But, seriously, it is a 

little late for these sorts of debating club semantics.  On the other hand, Hamed would agree 

to this logic, thus case should end and all of the Partnerships remaining assets should go to 

Hamed. Otherwise, historical estoppel is not a real “thing” in a real RUPA partnership division. 

 On a practical level, assuming the expenditures were legitimate, it was possible for 

United to seek reimbursement from the Partnership within the applicable statute of limitations 

period by requesting funds to be moved from the Plaza Extra bank accounts to the United 

tenant bank account.  There is ample evidence that the federal monitors allowed funds to be 

expended from both the tenant account and Plaza Extra accounts for things such as purchasing 

new store shelving, starting a new laundromat business and completing construction of Nejeh 

Yusuf’s home. (HCSOF ¶ 19) 

YSOF #11. When the FBI conducted its raid on the stores in September 2001, it 
seized thousands of documents, including the documents attached to this 
opposition as Exhibits 9, 9A and 10. The index of the FBI Bates numbers is over 
881 pages long and lists approximately 150 bates numbers on each page for a 
total of over 132,150 bates numbered documents. See Exhibit 5. This index and 
all of those documents produced in the criminal case were produced in this case 
by United and Yusuf’s former counsel, Joseph DiRuzzo on August 1, 2013. Id. 
The FBI bates numbers typically follow the same format of: three digits – four 
digits. Id. Relevant to this motion, those documents reflecting the ledgers and 
Community Bank records have the initial pre-fix “071”, “072” or “065” followed by 
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a four digit designation Bates numbers. Id. Those are the Bates numbers used 
by the FBI. Id. At the earliest, the FBI did not return these records to United until 
some time in 2011, as part of a voluminous and very disorganized FBI hard drive. 
See Exhibit 12, ¶8. 

 
Response:  United’s assertion that the FBI documents were not returned until 2011 is 

misleading because it makes it sound like 2011 was the first time that United had access to the 

seized documents.  That is simply not true.  According to the declaration of FBI Special Agent 

Thomas L. Petri, United’s defense team in the criminal case had access to the seized 

documents in 2003 and 2004.  In both years, the defense teams brought a photocopier and in 

2004 they brought a scanner as well.  As Special Agent Petri stated, the defense team had 

“unfettered access” to the documents.  (HCSOF ¶¶ 11-12) 

YSOF #12. Judge Brady found in a 2017 opinion that Yusuf was the managing 
partner in charge of the finances of the partnership. See Hamed v. Yusuf, 69 V.I. 
168, 175, n.4 (V.I. Super. 2017) (finding that “Yusuf acted as the managing 
partner” and that Hamed was “completely removed from the financial aspects of 
the business”) and 69 V.I. 189, 215 (V.I. Super. 2017) (“As managing 
partner,…[i]t was Yusuf's responsibility to oversee, account for, and periodically 
reconcile the distributions of funds between the partners”). As managing partner 
with these responsibilities, Mr. Yusuf had discretion to determine when the open 
account between United and the Plaza Extra supermarkets should be reconciled 
-- i.e., when Plaza Extra should repay to United’s tenant account all advances 
made by United to or on behalf of the supermarket business. 

 
Response:  Hamed disputes this statement.  Judge Brady did not find that United was allowed 

to disregard the statute of limitations for making claims.  United has not produced any evidence, 

other than Fathi Yusuf’s self-serving affidavit, that there was an agreement between the 

Partners that allowed United avoid the statute of limitations on demands for repayment made 

to the Partnership. Mr. Mohammad Hamed never testified to any such agreement. United has 

not produced any written document articulating this alleged agreement either.  United also has 

failed to demonstrate any history or course of dealing to show that United could demand 

payment at any time.  The only reconciliation that United can point to is the reconciliation done 

in 1993. (HCSOF ¶ 22) Finally, Fathi Yusuf’s purported reason for not requesting payment 
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sooner—to help the supermarkets with its cash flow—is also untrue.  The US federal 

government showed that from 1996-2001, the supermarkets had $60 million in unreported 

sales, hardly evidence of a cash flow problem. (HCSOF ¶ 5) 

Finally, there was no “open account” between United and the Plaza Extra supermarkets. 

The two entities only did one reconciliation in 1993.  The case cited by United, In re Estate of 

Vanderpool, 2010 VI Lexis 113 (V.I. Super. Dec. 30, 2010), involved a care facility that charged 

routinely for its services and “not more than one year elapsed between any of the services 

provided or demands for payment.” Id. at *6.  Here there was no routine back and forth of 

payments between the two parties, making the present situation distinguishable from 

Vanderpool. In any event, no matter what SOL date is used, United is out of time to bring its 

claim. 

YSOF #13. The amounts paid or advanced to or on behalf of Plaza Extra from 
United’s tenant account (and backed up by Exhibits 9, 9A, 10 and 13 and other 
evidence cited herein) are listed in Exhibit 15, by payment amount and by date 
for all of the amounts claimed in Y-7 and Y-9, as well as the additional amounts 
in 1995, 1997 and 1998, which were not previously captured. 

 
Response:  United cannot support this statement either. First, as United’s controller, Ben Irvin, 

stated in his interview with the FBI, he basically did the accounting in the manner that Fathi 

Yusuf instructed him.  (HCSOF ¶¶ 14-16) Second, a vast money laundering scheme was 

underway during that time, making any alleged “debts” suspect because it is impossible to 

accurately reconstruct the financials. (HCSOF ¶¶ 1-8) Third, Mike Yusuf, President of United, 

testified that he destroyed financial records in 2001. (HCSOF ¶ 6) Finally, Mike Yusuf did not 

know what the “Plaza transfer” entries on the accounting meant.  (HCSOF ¶ 17) For all we 

know, this could be United repaying the Partnership for expenses that the Partnership made 

on United’s behalf.  There are documented instances where the Partnership paid cash for 

United’s expenses. (HCSOF ¶ 18) 
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Conclusion 

United’s motion for summary judgment should be denied.  First, there are many disputes 

of material facts.  Second, United did not file its claims within the timeframe ordered by the 

Special Master.  Third, United’s claims are outside of Judge Brady’s July 25, 2017 Limitations 

on Accounting Order.  Fourth, United’s claims exceed the normal statute of limitations.  Finally, 

there are no legitimate reasons for tolling the statute of limitations.   

Dated: May 26, 2020    A 

Carl J. Hartmann III, Esq. 
Co-Counsel for Plaintiff 
1545 18th Street NW 
Suite 816 
Washington, DC 20036 
Email: carl@carlhartmann.com  
Tele: (340) 719-8941 

 

       Joel H. Holt, Esq. 
       Counsel for Plaintiff 
       Law Offices of Joel H. Holt 
       2132 Company Street, 
       Christiansted, Vl 00820 
       Email: holtvi@aol.com 
       Tele: (340) 773-8709   
       Fax: (340) 773-8670 
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 I hereby certify that on this 26th day of May, 2020, I served a copy of the foregoing by 
email, as agreed by the parties, on: 
 
Hon. Edgar Ross (w/ 2 paper copies to his Clerk) 
Special Master 
edgarrossjudge@hotmail.com 
 
Gregory H. Hodges 
Charlotte Perrell 
Law House, 10000 Frederiksberg Gade 
P.O. Box 756 
St. Thomas, VI 00802 
ghodges@dnflaw.com 
 
Mark W. Eckard 
Hamm, Eckard, LLP 
5030 Anchor Way 
Christiansted, VI 00820 
mark@markeckard.com 
 
Jeffrey B. C. Moorhead 
CRT Brow Building 
1132 King Street, Suite 3 
Christiansted, VI 00820 
jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com     

       A 

 
CERTIFICATE OF WORD/PAGE COUNT 

 
This document complies with the limitations set forth in Rule 6-1 (e). Counsel notes that 

this excludes the cover page, caption, table of contents, table of authorities, appendices, 

exhibits, certificates of service and “Statement of Undisputed Facts” per the revised 

requirements. As the Rule, as amended, is unclear, if the Statement of Facts is counted in the 

total, Hamed will remove it from the body and append it as a separate exhibit. 

A 
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and 
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS, 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

FA Tin YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF, 
aka Fathi Yusuf, 

W ALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, 
aka Wally Hamed, 

W AHEED MOHAMMED HAMED, 
aka Willie Hamed, 

MAHER FA Tin YUSUF, 
aka Mike Yusuf, 

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF, 
aka Sam Yousuf, and 

UNITED CORPORATION, 
dba Plaza Extra, 

Defendants. 

--------------------------~ 

INDICTMENT 

CRIMINAL No. Ao~3 ~I LJ J 
18U.S.C. § 371 
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MAIL FRAUD 
S1RUCTURE FINANCIAL 
1RANSACTIONS 

18 u.s.c. § 1956(h) 
CONSPIRACY TO LAUNDER MONEY 

18U.S.C. § 1341 
MAIL FRAUD 

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(BXi) 
MONEY LAUNDERING 

26 u.s.c. § 7206(2) 
CAUSING FALSE TAX RETURNS 

31 U.S.C. § 5324(aX3) 
SlRUCTIJRING FINANCIAL 
1RANSACTIONS 

33 V.I. C. § 1522 
CONSPIRACY TO EVADE TAXES 

33 V.I. C. § 1525(2) 
CAUSING FALSE TAX RETURNS 

14 V.I.C. § 605(a) 
ENGAGING IN A CRIMINAL ENTERPRISE 

14 V.I.C. § 605(d) 
CONSPIRACY TO ENGAGE IN A 
CRlMINAL ENTERPRISE 

18 U.S.C. § 982 & 21 U.S.C. § 853 
ASSET FORFEITURE 

14 V.I.C. § 606 
ASSET FORFEITURE 

Carl
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THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 

( 
\ GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

At all times relevant to this Indictment: 

A. Defendants 

I. Defendant UNITED CORPORATION (hereinafter UNITED) was a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the United States Virgin Islands (hereinafter "Virgin 

Islands'') that did business as Plaza Extra (hereinafter "Plaza Extra''). In the mid-1980s, Plaza 

Extra opened its first store, which was located in St. Croix. In 1993, Plaza Extra opened a 

second store, which was located in St. Thomas. In 2000, Plaza Extra opened a third store, which 

also was located in St. Croix. Plaza Extra sold groceries and other merchandise, which was 

purchased from wholesalers .and other suppliers located in states, territories and countries outside 

of the Virgin Islands. From 1996 through 2001, Plaza Extra's sales totaled over $300 million. 

( 
2. Defendant FA Tin YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF (hereinafter FA Tin YUSUF) is 

a citizen of the United States and a resident of the Virgin Islands. FA Tin YUSUF was an owner, 

director and officer of defendant UNITED and participated in the operation of Plaza Extra. 

FA Tin YUSUF' s duties and responsibilities included management of the business and conduct 

of the affairs of the corporation. FA Tin YUSUF acted with the intent to benefit both himself 

and UNITED in executing his duties and responsibilities. 

3. Defendant W ALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED (hereinafter W ALEED HAMED) 

is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the Virgin Islands. WALEED HAMED was 

employed by UNITED as the manager of a Plaza Extra supermarket in St. Croix. W ALEED 

HAMED's duties and responsibilities included the overall operation and financial management 

of the store. W ALEED HAMED acted with the intent to benefit both himself and UNITED in 

\ 
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HAMD202906

and to pay taxes on its monthly gross sales receipts. 

8. United States law provides that the income-tax laws in force in the United States 

apply to the Virgin Islands, and that the proceeds of such taxes must be paid to the Virgin 

Islands. 

C. Scheme to Defraud 

9. Beginning at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at 

least in or about September, 2002, defendants FA Tin YUSUF, W ALEED HAMED, W AHEED 

HAMED and UNITED defrauded the Virgin Islands of money in the form of tax revenue, 

specifically territorial gross receipts taxes as well as corporate income taxes, by failing to report 

at least $60 million in Plaza Extra sales on gross receipts tax returns and corporate income tax 

returnS. 

10. Plaza Extra customers paid for their purchases with cash, checks, credit cards, 

food stamps, and other forms of payment. After Plaza Extra's sales receipts were collected each 

day, the funds typically were transferred to a room in the store often referred to as the "cash 

room," to which only certain individuals, including the defendants, were permitted access. In the 

cash room, Plaza Extra employees counted the sales receipts and prepared bank deposit slips for 

the sales receipts. 

11. Defendants FA Tin YUSUF, W ALEED HAMED, W AHEED HAMED and 

UNITED directed and caused Plaza Extra employees to withhold from deposit substantial 

amounts of cash received from sales, typically bills in denominations of $1 00, $50 and $20. 

Instead of being deposited into the bank accounts with other sales receipts, this cash was 

delivered to one of the defendants or placed in a designated safe in the cash room. From 1996 

through 200 I, tens of millions of dollars in cash was withheld from deposit in this manner and as 

such, was not reported as gross receipts on tax returns filed by UNITED. 

-4-
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HAMD202907

12. In this way, defendantsFATillYUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED 

HAMED and UNITED caused the filing of dozens of false monthly gross receipts tax returns, 

which failed to report the cash withheld from deposit as gross receipts, thereby depriving the 

Virgin Islands of substantial tax revenue. Defendant UNITED's controller prepared and signed 

Plaza Extra's monthly gross receipts tax returns, declaring under oath that the returns were true 

and complete, knowing full well that the returns were false in that they failed to report substantial 

sales receipts. 

13. Defendants FATill YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and 

UNITED also caused the filing of false annual corporate income tax returns of UNITED that 

failed to report the cash withheld from deposit as sales, thereby depriving the Virgin Islands of 

substantial tax revenue. Defendant FA Till YUSUF signed UNITED's returns, declaring under 

oath that the returns were true and complete, knowing full well that the returns were false in that 

they failed to report substantial sales receipts. 

D. Concealment of the Fraud Proceeds 

14. The defendants engaged in various efforts to disguise and conceal the illegal 

scheme and its proceeds. For example, defendants FA Till YUSUF, W AHEED HAMED and 

MAHER YUSUF directed and caused Plaza Extra employees and others to purchase cashier's 

checks, traveler's checks, and money orders with unreported cash, typically from different bank 

branches and made payable to individuals and entities other than the defendants, in order to 

disguise the cash as legitimate-appearing financial instruments. 

15. Defendants FATill YUSUF, WAHEED HAMED and MAHER YUSUF also 

purchased and caused others to purchase checks and money orders, and engaged in and caused 

others to engage in various cash transactions with banks, in amounts designed to evade the legal 

requirements that banks keep records and file reports regarding cash transactions with the U.S. 

-5-
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( 

Treasury Department. 

16. Defendants W ALEED HAMED and MAHER YUSUF caused unreported 

currency to be used to _cash the checks of Plaza Extra customers and others in order to disguise 

the cash as legitimate-appearing financial instruments. 

17. Defendants FA nn YUSUF and W ALEED HAMED caused the checks and 

money orders described above to be deposited into foreign bank accounts they controlled. For 

example, defendants FA nn YUSUF and W ALEED HAMED compiled the various checks and 

money orders obtained with unreported cash and caused them to be transported from the Virgin 

Islands to the Kingdom of Jordan ("Jordan"), where the funds were deposited into accounts they 

controlled at Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan. 

18. Defendants W ALEED HAMED and W AHEED HAMED used and caused to be 

used UNITED corporate checks to purchase cashiers' checks made payable to Plaza Extra 

suppliers and other entities to create the false appearance that the checks were payments to Plaza 

Extra suppliers. In fact, these cashier's checks were transported to Amman, Jordan and deposited 

into accounts at Cairo Amman Bank controlled by defendants FA nn YUSUF and W ALEED 

HAMED. 

19. Defendants FA nn YUSUF and W ALEED HAMED smuggled and caused to be 

smuggled millions of dollars of unreported cash from the Virgin Islands to the island of St. 

Martin, in the French West Indies, where it was deposited into accounts at Banque Francaise 

Commerciale that they and defendant ISAM YOUSUF controlled. 

20. To conceal the transfer of unreported cash to foreign bank accounts, defendants 

FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED failed to file financial reports with the United States, as 

required by law. Specifically, FATHI YUSUF and W ALEED HAMED failed to file required 

reports with the U.S. Treasury Department that would have revealed: (a) their transfer of 

-6-
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/ USAO NO. 2002R00389 

STANT U.S. ATTORNEY 

DISTRICT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS: 'f;JY. 2003 

Returned into the District Court by Gran~rs and filed. · . · ··· .... 

~}mwA/ 
DEPUTYCLERK~ 

.... 
·-....... 
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX 

 
WALEED HAMED, as the Executor of )
the Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED, )
    Plaintiff/Counterclaim Deft.,) 
                                 ) 
       vs.                       ) Case No. SX-2012-CV-370 
                                 ) 
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED )
CORPORATION, )
    Defendants/Counterclaimants, ) 
                                 ) 
       vs.                       )   DEPOSITIONS TAKEN: 
                                 )   JANUARY 21, 2020 
WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, )
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and )
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC., )
     Counterclaim Defendants.    ) 
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the ) 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,        ) 
               Plaintiff,        ) 
                                 ) Consolidated with 
       vs.                       ) Case No. SX-2014-CV-287 
                                 ) 
UNITED CORPORATION, Defendant. )
                                 ) 
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the ) 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,        ) 
               Plaintiff,        ) 
                                 ) Consolidated with 
       vs.                       ) Case No. SX-2014-CV-278 
                                 ) 
FATHI YUSUF, Defendant. )
_________________________________) 
FATHI YUSUF, Plaintiff, )
                                 ) Consolidated with 
       vs.                       ) Case No. ST-17-CV-384   
                                 ) 
MOHAMMAD A. HAMD TRUST, et al., )
               Defendants.       ) 
KAC357 Inc., Plaintiff, )
                                 ) Consolidated with 
       vs.                       ) Case No. ST-18-CV-219   
                                 ) 
HAMED/YUSUF PARTNERSHIP, )
                                 ) 
               Defendant.        )      
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THE VIDEOTAPED ORAL DEPOSITIONS OF FATHI YUSUF,  

MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF, WALEED "WALLY" HAMED, NEJEH YUSUF, 

MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED,  AND JOHN GAFFNEY 

was taken on the 21st day of January, 2020, at the Law 

Offices of Joel H. Holt, 2132 Company Street, The Alcove 

Room, Christiansted, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, between 

the hours of 10:00 a.m. and 5:09 p.m., pursuant to Notice 

and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

                    ____________________ 

 

Reported by: 
 

Susan C. Nissman RPR-RMR 
Registered Merit Reporter 
Caribbean Scribes, Inc. 

2132 Company Street, Suite 3 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00820 

(340) 773-8161 
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APPEARANCES

 
A-P-P-E-A-R-A-N-C-E-S 

 
 
For the Plaintiffs:                
 
Law Offices of 
Joel H. Holt                                                
2132 Company Street, Suite 2 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00820 
 
By:  Joel H. Holt                               
 

and 

 
Carl J. Hartmann, III 
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L6 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00820 

By:  Carl J. Hartmann, III 
     Kim Japinga 
 

 

 

For the Defendants: 

 
Law Offices of 
DNF                                                          
Law House 
P.O. Box 756 
Charlotte Amalie, St. Thomas 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00802 
 
By:  Charlotte Perrell                           

 

Also Present:  Michael Gelardi, Videographer 
                

HAMD674270



232

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161

WALEED "WALLY" HAMED -- REDIRECT

Park store?  Do you know?  Not what you surmise.  What you

know.

A. I know there was a lot of cash around.  How the

accountants do their thing, I have no idea, and I don't

recall exactly what's on paper, but I know there was a lot

of cash around.

MS. PERRELL:  So you don't know.  All right.

I don't have any more questions.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HARTMANN: 

Q. Let's go back to the questions counsel asked you.

Tell me what happened in 1995.

A. Where?

Q. In St. Thomas?

A. St. Thomas, I believe we had -- I'm not sure if it

was '94 or '95 when we bought out our -- our partner that we

had in the St. Thomas store.

Q. And right after that, was there a hurricane?

A. Right after that, we had a hurricane.

Q. And how bad was the hurricane?

A. That hurricane, I think -- I'm not sure the

category they referred to it, but it was --

Q. It was that --

A. -- significant.  Yeah, Marilyn.

Q. Marilyn.  Okay.
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Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161

WALEED "WALLY" HAMED -- REDIRECT

And tell me how the business did in '95 and

then in '96 compared to how it had ever done before?

A. Probably triple, quadruple, maybe 10 times.

Q. And why was that?

A. Because of the hurricane.  I mean, business just

went out -- just went through the roof.

Q. I'll put Mr. Yusuf on next and ask him the same

questions if you'd like.  He'll tell you the same thing.

And why did the profits and the income

triple?

A. Well, we -- we probably were one or two of the

surviving stores in St. Thomas.

Q. So your volume --

A. My volume, our sales, went up.

Q. By how much?

A. Three, four, maybe five times.

Q. Okay.  And -- and that was in late '95 and into

'96?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And how long was it from '95 until the other

stores recovered?

A. The other?  I'm sorry?  

Q. The other stores.  Your competitors got --

A. We had -- we had, I think '95, '96, '97, '98, and

'99 were stellar years.  I mean, we just -- we were really,
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Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161

WALEED "WALLY" HAMED -- REDIRECT

really busy.  I mean, we had one time, St. Thomas was

beating the St. Croix locations.

Q. Okay.  And -- and what's the impact of St. Thomas

beating the St. Croix locations?

A. It's significant, because at the time, the

St. Croix location was beating the St. Thomas location --

Q. Okay.

A. -- in sales.

Q. So -- so would it be fair to say -- as I said,

I'll call Mr. Yusuf next on this -- but would it be fair to

say that '95 through '99 were probably the greatest years

possible for a grocery store anywhere ever?

MS. PERRELL:  Object.  Speculation.

     Q.   (Mr. Hartmann) You can answer.

A. I'm not too sure if you could say for all over the

place, but, I mean, for -- for -- 

Q. Well, -- 

A. It was good years for us.

Q. Let me put it to you a different way:  Were you

guys loading bundles of cash into suitcases and taking it to

foreign countries?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And what -- and what year did that all started?

A. That was late '95 to 2000-2001.

Q. And why -- why were these bundles of cash just
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C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E 

     I, SUSAN C. NISSMAN, a Registered Merit Reporter  

and Notary Public for the U.S. Virgin Islands, 

Christiansted, St. Croix, do hereby certify that the above 

and named witnesses, FATHI YUSUF, MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF, WALEED 

"WALLY" HAMED, NEJEH YUSUF, MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED, and JOHN 

GAFFNEY, were first duly sworn to testify the truth; that 

said witnesses did thereupon testify as is set forth; that 

the answers of said witnesses to the oral interrogatories 

propounded by counsel were taken by me in stenotype and 

thereafter reduced to typewriting under my personal 

direction and supervision. 

     I further certify that the facts stated in the caption  

hereto are true; and that all of the proceedings in the 

course of the hearing of said deposition are correctly and  

accurately set forth herein. 

     I further certify that I am not counsel, attorney or 

relative of either party, nor financially or otherwise  

interested in the event of this suit. 

     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as such  

Registered Merit Reporter on this the 22nd day of February, 

2020, at Christiansted, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands.   

 
                        _______________________________           
 
My Commission Expires:     Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR 
June 28, 2023                      NP 234-19 
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF TILE VIRGIN ISLANDS JAN 245

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,

Plaintiff,

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf;

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAM ! D,
aka Wally Flamed.

WAHEED MOHAMMED 11AMED,
aka Willie Flamed,

M AHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF.
aka Sarn Yousuf,

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION

dba Plaza Extra,
Defendants.

YUSF113438

CRIMINAL NO. 2005-147

DRAFT SUMMARY SCHEDULES

FY 009991
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United States & The Government of the Virgin Islands v. Fathi Yusuf Mohammed Yusuf, et. al.
Draft Summary Schedules

INDEX

TAB A Summary Gross Income Analysis, Plaza Extra, 1996

CAB B Summary Gross Income Analysis, Plaza Extra, 1997

TAB C Summary Gross Income Analysis, Plaza Extra, 1995

TAB D Summary Gross Income Analysis, Plaza Extra, 1999

TAB E Summary Gross Income Analysis, Plaza Extra, 2000

TAB F Summary Gross Income Analysis, Plaza Extra, 2001

TAB G Computation of Corrected Income and Tax, United
Corporation, 1996 - 2001

TAB I1 - . . Schedule of Additional Business Deductions for
United Corporation

TAB I Schedule of Corrected Taxable income and Tax for
Fathi Yusuf, 1996 -2001

TA13 J Deposit Analysis, Banque Francaise Commerciale,
Fathi Yusuf Account 40606387790

TAB K Deposit Analysis, Banque Francaise Commerciale,
Hamdan Diamond Corporation, Account
40606388790

TAB L - Deposit Analysis, Cairo Amman Bank, Fathi Yusuf,
Account 02503172349

TAI3 h4 Deposit Analysis, Cairo Amman Bank, Fathi Yusuf,
Account 02528172349

TAB Deposit Analysis, Bank ofNoVa Scotia, Fathi
Yusuf, Account 058 -00365610

1

YUSF113439 FY 009992



United States & The Government of the Virgin. Islands v. Fathi Yusuf Mohamnied Yusuf, et. al.
Draft Summary Schedules

TAB

TAB P

TAB Q

TAB R

TAB S

TAB T

TAB U

TAB V

TAB \l'

TAB X

TAB Y

TAB Z

TAB AA

a

YUSF113440

::.;. ,;
i.Ì r.ik

INDEX

Computation of Additional Taxable Income,
Walecd flamed, 1996 -2001

Deposit Analysis, Banque Francaisc Commerciale,
Waited flamed, Account 40606387890

Deposit Ànalysis, Cairo Amman Bank, Walecd
Mohamad flamed, Account 02501171878

Deposit Analysis, Cairo Amman Bank, Walecd
Mohamad Hamed, Account 02533171 878

Deposit Analysis, Cairo Amman Bank, Walecd
Mohamad Hamed, Account 6101863

Deposit Analysis, Virgin Islands Community Bank,
Wally Hamed, Account 182605817

Deposit Analysis, Virgin islands Community Bank,
Wally Hamed, Account I82556086

Deposit Analysis, Bank of Nova Scotia, Waked
Hamed, Account 58003083) 3

Deposit Analysis, Banco Popular, Wally Hamed,
Account 194- 602753

Deposit Analysis, Men-ill Lynch, Wally Hamed,
Account, 140-16) 84

Corrected Taxable Income and Tax,
Waheed Hamed, 1997 -2000

Schedule of Cash Receipts for Waheed Hamed

Deposit Analysis, Peters Farm Investment
Corporation, Account 058-00082619

2
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United $taies;& The Government of the Virgin Islands v. Fathi Yusuf Mohammed Yusuf, et. al.
Draft Summary Schedules

TAB BB

TAB CC

r

YUSF113441

INDEX

Deposit Analysis, Sixteen Pius Corporation, Bank
ofNova Scotia, Account 39411

Deposit Analysis, Plessen Enterprises, Inc., Bank of
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SUMMARY GROSS INCOME ANALYSIS
PLAZA EXTRA

1996

ST/ Anus! Sies

STT Sales Per
Gross Recript Tax

Amen

Acrual Saxes Le ss
Soles Per GR Tar

ROwens ST +( ACb13Q Sales

ST% Sales Fe+ Aetuaí Sargs Lass
Gruss Receipt Tu Saks Pu Grit Tu

Return Rahms Tow Artaal Sies

To:al S are i Pe,
gross Raorpl Tu

Ralum

1o¡pl
Unreponeu

Sales

Jan-96 2,174.587.95 1.787,146.63 307.439.32 1,764.049.92 1,784,049.92 0.00 1938.637.87 3,551.198.55 387.438.32
Feb-95 2,110.327.53 1,832,829.71 277,497.82 1,584,458.49 1.584,458.49 0.00 3494,786.02 3,417.289.20

3,069,157.03
277,497.82

844,768.21Mar-96 2.231,448.19 1,386.679,98 844768.21 1,682.477.05 1.682.477.05 0.00 3.913.925.24

Apr96 2,138.082.07 1.596,410.12 541.671,95 1.625.813.27

1,626,086,86

1.625.813,27

1,628,088.86

0.00

0.00
3.763,B95.34

3,694.241.29
3.222.223,39

3.085,154.92
541,671.95

.808.090.37May96' 2.066.154 .43 1,457,064,06 609.090.37

Jun-96 2,101,441.68 971.423.68 1,130,018.00 1526.332.05 1.326.332.05 0.00 3.427773.73 2,297,755,73 1,130.078.00

Jul-96 2262,943.56 909.002.67 1,352.950.89 1,503.545.59 1,503.545.59 0.03 3.766,489.15 2,413,538.26 1,352.95029
Au9-96 2.273,867.61 1,181,108.35 1,092.759.26 1,344.547.73 1.344,547.73 0.40 3.618,41524 2,525.656.08 1.092.759.26

Sep-96 1.988,104.22 1.786.111.67 201.992.55 1.339,708.73 1.339.708.73 0.00 3.327.812.95 3.125,820.40 201,992.55
Oct46 1,878,971.04 1.540,699.09 338,271.95 1,683,877.91 1,883$77.91 0.00 3.562,848.95 3,224,577.00 338.271.95
Nov-96 2,272,294.13 1,613.089.72 659,204.41 1,814,830.24 1,814,030.24 0.00 4,087.124.37 3.427.919.96 659.204.41
Dec-96 2.395,551 06 1,697,477.02 668.074.04 1,828.632.06 1,828,632.06 0.00 4,194,183.12 3.526.109 03 668.074.04

25,883.773.47 17,760.03470 8,103.730.77 19,126.350.90 19,126.350.00 9.00 44.990,13137 39,886.394.60 8,103.738.77
Gross Receipts Tax Due S. Owing (4% of Total Unreparled Sales) 324.149.55

1996 Actual Sales for St. Croix werd not available. The amounts shown wore as reported on gross receipts sax return fled with the VISO;

FY 009995
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COMPUTATION OF CORRECTED INCOME {'1 AND TAX
UNITED CORPORATION

1996 - 2001

Item I I 1996 I I 1997 I I 1998 j I 1999 2000 I 2001 I I

Actual Sales 44,959,700.47 al 44,008,612.53 al 54,607.513.9B 57,937.942.63 65,262,591.41 79,305,98028 Per Surnrnary income Analysis Schedule
Gross Sales 36,771.260.00 36,823.771.00 40,706,669.00 47,004,399.00 51,746.933.00 69,579,413.00 Per Corporale Income Tax Returns
Unreported Gross Sales 8,188,440.47 7,185,041.53 13,900,844.98 10.933.543.63 13.515,658.41 9,726,567.28

Total Income 9.218.908.00 8.644.493.00 8,632,551.00 11.464,828.00 12,639,106.00 18,650,710.00 Per Corporate Income Tax Returns

Add:
Unreported Gross Sates 8.188.440.47 7,185,041.53 13,900,844.98 10,933.543.63 13,515,658.41 9,726.567,28

Lessi
Total Deductions 8,749761.D0 8,462.931.00 8.474.306.03 8,696.686.00 10,058,426.00 13.403,719.00 Per Corporate Income Tax Returns

Less:
Additional Business Deductions 3,893,881.39 3.538,483.16 2.883.240.47 Per Schedule of Additional Business Expenditures

Compensation to Waleed Homed 1,628.856 86 136,475.13 2,070.804.72 1,495,781.16 429.584.75 76,935 20 Per Taxable tncame Computations for Waleed Harnett

Compensation lo Wahced Named 111,500.00 151,150.00 181,800.00 795,919.63 Per Taxable Income Computations for Waheed Hamed

Corrected Taxable Income S 7.028,730.61 S 7,118,628.40 S 11,837,135.16

Corrected Ordinary Income S B.130.223.08 S 11.332,347.87 S 12.012,382 61

Corrected Tax 2,389,768.41 2A20,333.66 4,042.997.34 Per IRS Tax Rate Schedules

Lets. Tat Per Return 175,761.00 59,465.00 49.462.00 Per Corporate Income Tax Returns

Additional Tax Due 8 Owing S _214307_41 5 2,360,865.66
- -

S 3,993,535.34
-

'')As of the 1999 tax year, United Corporation elected to become an S Corporation, and as such. reported ordinary income as opposed to taxable income.

alhe amounts reflected on line 1 'Actual Sales'. for 1996 and 1997. represent the sum of actual sates for St. Thomas per summary income analysis schedule) and

reported income 'per United Corporation financial statements) for St. Croix.

YUSF113568
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FATHI YUSUF - Summary of Gross Bank Deposits'far
1997

'

ear
9998Particutars

Year
1996 Description of Evidence

Banque Francaise Commerciale 5425.000.00 50.00 $1,560,760.27 Deposit Analysis of Banque Francaise Commerciale Account 40 -60. 63977 -90
Acct. #40606387790

Boe Francaise Commerciate 52.400.000.00 50.00 5823.344.11 Deposit Analysis or Banque Francaise Commerciale Account 40- 60- 63867 -90
Acct, #40606385790

- N

Cairo Amman Bank $0.00 $0.00 $665,925.17 Deposit Analysis of Cairo Amman Bank Account 02- 503 - 172349
Acct. #02503172349

Cairo Amman Bank $0.00. 50.00 667,457.71 Deposit Analysts of Cain Amman Bank Account 02 -525- 172349
Acct, #02528172349

Bank of Nova Scotia 512.000.00 56.000.00 523.000.00 Deposit Analysis of Bank of Nova Scotia Account 059. 00365610
Acct. #058.00365610

Total Deposits To Accounts 52.837,000.00 $6.000.00 53,740.487.26

O
o
o
YUSF113597
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WALLED HAfdED Sornmarit of Gross Bank Depnits

--Yrar
1998

Tier
1997

-Tear
1943

Year
1999

-Year
2000

ear
20111 Desorption OfEvldencoParticulars

Banque F /aruase Carr mon:tale 51,124.000 00 5655,739.30 51.769.57901 575,00.09 L]cpostl Analysts el Banqu* Frtncaise Ccetvncrt+aea Account
Acct 1x40600387890

Gams Amman Bank - 860,718.70 1,411,964.69 1,574,094.39 3.556.950.83 - 17ç0á4í1 Analysis of Caro Amman Bank Amami
Ace-- 402501171878

4.455 952.59 53.238 SB aevosd Analysts of Caro Amman Bank AccountGain Amman Bank
Acct. 11132533171878

beppsit Analysis el Cairo Amman Banc AccountCairo Amman Bank 53.687.079.70 5953800 - - -
Acts 461D1863

Vrtpn 14134dí Correnuntty Bank 535 000.00 546.350.00 S19,20005 510.890.06 Dcoosa Amity-sr& of Vngpn Islands CommurotY Bank A:car1
Acct. 4182005817

Virr, n Islands Cammstseity Bank 534,143.20 5145.750.00 5278.030.17 595.741 -67 $229,744 88 5131,01281 Depasl Analysis at Vlrr;r1151anas Community Ban Account
Acct #782556086

BankBank Naf pry 4u1í4 - 5111,900.00 58x,40000 5277,000 00 St 00.000.00 515,000.00 Demst1 Ana hsis 01 Bank of Npv i Sco!,a At nunc
Acct 85800308313

BancoPppidar 533.060.15 546,615.36 522.911 -86 575,633.42 513.972.]1 547.799 07 Deposit Analysts et Banos Popular Account
Acct. .184-002753

t
t: emll Lynch $0.00 50.00 50.00 518100 5215.500.00 5174,478.11 Depos 1 Analysis of Mural Lynch Brokera99 1

A=1 1413.16184

Totrl Deposits To Accounts 54,608,383.17 51,608,262 -02 S3.619.170.42 51,781,853 48 58.547,150 54 5362.818 -63
=Zara 22rxvt ¢= = mratts s1.- =-:a_.a rn an [_a__=nass nth sssxsrca ===rxa

11

o
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMED HAMED by His Authorized
Agent WALEED HAMED,

Plaintiff /Counterclaim Defendant, )

vs. ) Case No. SX -12 -CV -370

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, )

Defendants /Counterclaimants, )

vs. )

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, MUFEED )

HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and PLESSEN )

ENTERPRISES, INC., )

Additional Counterclaim Defendants.)

THE VIDEOTAPED 30(b)(6) ORAL DEPOSITION OF UNITED

CORPORATION through its representative, MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF,

was taken on the 3rd day of April, 2014, at the Law Offices

of Adam Hoover, 2006 Eastern Suburb, Christiansted,

St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, between the hours of

10:07 a.m. and 2:42 p.m., pursuant to Notice and Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure.

Reported by:

Cheryl L. Haase
Registered Professional Reporter

Caribbean Scribes, Inc.
2132 Company Street, Suite 3

Christiansted, St. Croix U.S.V.I.
(340) 773 -8161

HAM D600333
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APPEARANCES

A-P-P-E-A-R-A-N-C-E-S

For the Plaintiff /Counterclaim Defendant:

Law Offices of
Joel H. Holt
2132 Company Street
Suite 2
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Joel H. Holt

and

Law Offices of
Carl Hartmann, III
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L6
Christiansted, U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Carl Hartmann, III

For the Defendant /Counterclaimants

Law Offices of
Dudley, Topper & Feuerzeig
P.O. Box 756
Charlotte Amalie, St. Thomas
U.S. Virgin Islands 00804

By: Gregory H. Hodges

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161
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APPEARANCES

For Fathi Yusuf:

Law Offices of
K. Glenda Cameron
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: K. Glenda Cameron

Also Present:

Josiah Wynans, Videographer
Hatim Yusuf, Interpreter
Kim Japinga
Waleed Hamed
Hisham Hamed
Mufeed Hamed
Fathi Yusuf

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161

HAM D600335



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

64

30(B)(6) OF UNITED CORP. - MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

Q. Okay.

A. Okay?

Q. That's fine.

A. 2001, that's the -- the year that we had the raid.

Q. Okay. What -- approximately what date?

A. October 23rd of 2001.

Q. Okay.

A. Okay. Sometime I would say a month and a half to

two months before that, Waleed got a call from Waheed saying

that something is going on. Some kind of agency is coming

to spot check us, look at us. I -- I don't know the details

of that. So among us, at that time, it was me, Mufeed and

Waleed in the Plaza Extra East, I was doing construction at

that time -- or, no, the store in West was open at that

time.

So I left my store, and I came to East to --

to discuss what's -- what's going on. Nobody wanted to

speak over the phone. We -- you know? We were trying to

not say anything over the phone, because we didn't know what

was going on. We just heard through the grapevine,

something is happening. We didn't know.

So between among us, we decided to destroy

some of the receipts, because they were all in cash. We

pulled out a good bit of receipts from the safes in Plaza

East. Mufeed was present with me. He had a whole, a heap

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161

HAM D600396
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65

30(B)(6) OF UNITED CORP. - MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

1 of receipts for the Hameds only. It could be from either

2 one of the Hameds, once it's the Hamed. And receipts from

3 the Yusuf, which basically was just me, not, you know,

4 nobody else.

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Mufeed, I guess you call it, tallied, and,

you know, put a tape on what they withdraw, and I put a

tally, a tape, on what I withdraw. And I gave him my

receipts to double -check my work, he gave me his receipt to

double -check his work.

Once everything dropped to the penny, we were

fine, I said, Listen. I'm destroying my receipts. You know

what I owe you guys. I owe you guys 1.3 million, and at

that time, they had pulled in receipts about 2.9 million.

Wally wanted to take a look at it, and as far as I know,

Wally got rid of the receipts. So 1.3 million from

2.9 million, this is where you get the 1.6 million.

Q. In Exhibit --

A. In Exhibit 146.

Q. Okay. So let me just see if I'm clear. The two

of you collected the receipts from everywhere?

A. No. You're -- I told you, from Plaza Extra East.

Q. Oh, just from Plaza Extra East?

A. I came from Plaza West.

Q. Okay.

A. I was open at that time.

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161

HAM D600397
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150

CERTIFICATE

C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E

I, CHERYL L. HAASE, a Registered Professional Reporter

and Notary Public No. NP- 158 -03 for the U.S. Virgin Islands,

Christiansted, St. Croix, do hereby certify that the above

and named witness, MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF, was first duly sworn

to testify the truth; that said witness did thereupon

testify as is set forth; that the answers of said witness to

the oral interrogatories propounded by counsel were taken by

me in Stenotype and thereafter reduced to typewriting under

my personal direction and supervision.

I further certify that the facts stated in the caption

hereto are true; and that all of the proceedings in the

course of the hearing of said deposition are correctly and

accurately set forth herein.

I further certify that I am not counsel, attorney or

relative of either party, nor financially or otherwise

interested in the event of this suit.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as such

Certified Court Reporter on this the 25th day of April,

2014, at Christiansted, St. Croix, United States Virgin

Islands.

Cheryl L. Haase, RPR
My Commission Expires 2/10/16

HAM D600482
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IN THE DISTRICT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed

WAHEED MQHOMMAD HAM ED,
aka Willie Hamed

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf

NEJEH FATHI. YUSUF
ISAM YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION,

dba Plaza Extra,
Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005 -15F/B

PLEA AGREEMENT

INTRODUCTION

This agreement is entered into by and between defendant United

Corporation, dlbla Plaza Extra (hereinafter "United "), Thomas Alkon, Esquire,

and Warren B. Cole, Esquire, Attorneys for United; Fathi Yusuf Mohamed Yusuf,

Waleed Mohammad Hamed., Waheed Mohammad Hamed, Maher Fathi Yusuf,

Nejeh Fathi Yusuf, and the Department of Justice, Tax Division, and the United

States Attorney for the District of the Virgin Islands (collectively referred to as the.

"Government ").

The parties agree to the following terms:

1

$2zec+4t,1

Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB   Document #: 1248   Filed: 02/26/10   Page 1 of 20

HAMD247901
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A. United will plead guilty to Count Sixty of the Third Superseding

Indictment, which charges willfully making and subscribing 'a 2001 U.S.

Corporation Income Tax Return (Form 1120S), in violation of Title 33, Virgin

Islands Code, Section 1525(2).

B. At the time that United enters its plea to the above- referenced

count, the Government will dismiss all counts of the Indictment with prejudice

against FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF, aka Fathi Yusuf, WALEED

MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Wally Hamed, WAHEED MOHAMMED NAMED, aka

Willie Hamed, MAHER FATHI YUSUF, aka Mike Yusuf, !SAM MOHAMAD

YOUSUF, aka Sam Yousuf, and NEJEH FATHI YUSUF (all collectively referred

to as "individual defendants ") , including the temporary restraining order and

forfeiture allegations: The Government agrees not to file any additional criminal

charges against United or any of the individual defendants for conduct arising out

of the facts alleged in the Indictment. In accordance with paragraph VI. below,

the Department of Justice of the Virgin Islands also agrees that it will file no

criminal charges against United or any of the individual defendants for any

conduct arising out of the facts alleged in the Indictment.

The Government agrees to dismiss with prejudice all remaining. counts of

the indictment against United, including the temporary restraining order and

forfeiture allegations, at the time of sentencing.

2
sïz&o44.t

Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB   Document #: 1248   Filed: 02/26/10   Page 2 of 20
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IL

NATURE OF THE OFFENSE

United agrees to plead guilty to Count Sixty of the Indictment, which

charges a violation of The 33; Virgin Islands Code, Section 1525(2). United

acknowledges that the offense to which it is pleading has the following elements:

A. Elements

1.. United aided, assisted, procured, counseled, advised, or

caused the preparation and presentation of a return;.

2. The return was fraudulent or false as to a material matter;

and

3. United acted willfully.

B. Elements Understood and Admitted.

United, through a representative empowered to accept this plea by virtue

of a duly enacted resolution of its Board of Directors,: has fully discussed the facts

of this case with defense counsel. United committed each of the elements of the

crime charged in Count Sixty of the Indictment and admits that there is a factual

basis for a plea of guilty to the charge.

C. Factual Basis.

The parties agree that the following facts are true and undisputed:

On or about September 18; 2002, United willfully aided, assisted,

procured, counseled, advised, or caused the preparation and presentation of a

materially false corporate income tax return on Form 1120S for the year 2001

and. filed such return with the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue (VIBIR).

3
527$IL44_I
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Specifically, United reported gross receipts or sales on line 1c as $69,579;412,

knowing that the true amount was approximately $79,305,980.

PENALTIES

A. United acknowledges that the maximum penalties for violation of

Count Sixty are the following:

1. A maximum fine of $5,000;.

2. The Government may seek costs of prosecution, including

but not limited to 1) costs incurred to produce discovery in the investigation and

prosecution of this matter; 2) costs incurred by the United States Marshal's

Service to monitor the operations of Defendant United pursuant to the Temporary

Restraining Order, currently estimated at approximately $1.5 million; and 3) costs

related to witness appearance: and travel fees in the investigation and

prosecution of this matter. United reserves the tight to object to the imposition of

the aforementioned costs and to contest the amounts claimed by the

Government.

3. Restitution in an amount that represents any and all unpaid

gross receipts taxes, corporate income taxes, and individual income taxes owing

to the VIBIR for the Indictment years 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001.

Said restitution is to be determined by the Court in accordance with the figures

and ranges set forth in Exhibit 1., accepting as proven those figures stipulated by

the parties.. For those numbers still in dispute, the Court will determine the

appropriate amount within the ranges proposed by the parties in Exhibit 1,

following briefing, evidentiary presentation, and argument. In making its

4
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determination, the Court may consider all relevant and material evidence

presented by the parties without regard to the Federal Rules of Evidence, so long

as such evidence is disclosed in advance to the opposing party. Prior to

submitting restitution amounts for the Court's consideration in preparation for

sentencing, the parties agree to negotiate in good -faith to arrive at a mutually

acceptable amount.

4. A term of probation of one year, with conditions as set forth

in paragraph VIII.E. United understands that failure to comply with any of the

conditions of probation may result in the imposition of further. penalties.

B. In addition to the statutory penalties for violation of Title 33, Virgin

Islands Code, Section 1525(2), United shall pay a substantial monetary penalty

within the range set forth in paragraph VIII.B.., as determined by the Court

following briefing and argument by the parties.

IV.

WAIVER OF TRIAL RIGHTS

United understands that this guilty plea waives all of the following rights:

A. To plead not guilty and to require. the Government to prove the

elements of the crimes beyond a reasonable doubt;

B. To a speedy and public trial by jury;

C. To assistance of counsel at all stages of trial;

D. To confront and cross -examine witnesses against United; and

E. To present evidence and to have witnesses testify on United's

behalf.

5
5228044.$
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V.

UNITED'S REPRESENTATION THAT GUILTY PLEA IS KNOWING
AND VOLUNTARY

United represents that

A. United has had a full opportunity to discuss all the facts and

circumstances of this case with its counsel and has a clear understanding of the

charges and the consequences of pleading .guilty;

B. No.. one has made any promises or offered any rewards in return for

United's guilty plea, other than those contained in this Plea Agreement,: in

Exhibit Z which contains the letter of understanding dated February 12, 2010

(this plea agreement controls in the event of any conflicts), or otherwise

disclosed to. the Court

C. NO one has threatened United to induce this guilty plea; and

D. United is pleading guilty because in truth and in fact United is guilty

and for no other reason.

VI.

AGREEMENT LIMITED TO UNITED STATES ATTORNEY'S OFFICE FOR THE
DISTRICT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS AND TAX DIVISION

This Plea. Agreement is between United Corporation, the Individual

Defendants, and the Government. This Agreement is not intended to bind any

other federal, state, or local prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authorities

except to the extent specifically expressed herein. The Government will bring

this Plea Agreement to the attention of other authorities if requested by United.

6
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VII.

PLEA AGREEMENT SUBJECT TO COURT APPROVAL

Pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure,

the parties acknowledge and agree that United should be ordered to pay the fine,

restitution, and monetary penalties contained within this Plea Agreement and

should be sentenced to a term of probation of one year.

If the Court does not adopt the agreement of the parties pursuant to Rule

11(c):(1)(C), both United and the Government reserve the right to withdraw from

this Plea Agreement.

VIII.

PARTIES' SENTENCING RECOMMENDATIONS

A. Fine. The parties agree that the maximum statutory fine of $5,000

should be imposed.

B. Monetary Penalty: The parties propose that the monetary penalty

to be imposed pursuant to paragraph III.B. above be imposed in an amount

between $250,000 to $5,715,748.

C. Costs of Prosecution: The Government proposes that costs of

prosecution be imposed as discussed above in paragraph III.A.2. United

contests said number and the categories of costs to be awarded.

D. Restitution. The parties propose the restitution amounts and

ranges as set forth in Exhibit 1, as referenced in paragraph III.A.3. above.

E. Terms of Probation

1. United agrees to a term of probation of one year and agrees

to be monitored by an independent third party certified public accounting firm to

7
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assure its compliance with the tax laws of the VIBIR. United agrees to cooperate

with the independent third party in carrying out such party's obligations under this

agreement. The selection of a certified public accounting firm as the

independent third party will be expressly approved by the Government prior to

the beginning of the term of probation. If the parties cannot reach agreement on

a third party, the independent third party will be selected by the Court.

2. The independent third party shall make quarterly reports to

the Government, the Court, and United of United's financial condition, results of

business operations, tax filings, tax payments, and accounting for the disposition

of all funds received.

3. United shall submit to:

(a) a reasonable number of regular or unannounced

examinations of its books and records at appropriate business premises by the

independent third party; and

(b) a periodic review of financial statements and tax

returns of United.

4. United shall be required to notify the court or independent

third party immediately upon learning of (a) any material adverse change in its

business or financial condition or prospects, or (b) the commencement of any

bankruptcy proceeding,. major civil litigation, criminal prosecution, or

administrative proceeding against United, or any investigation or formal inquiry

by governmental authorities regarding Uniteds financial operations.

8

Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB   Document #: 1248   Filed: 02/26/10   Page 8 of 20

HAMD247908



5. United shall make periodic payments., as specified by the.

Court, in the following priority: (a) restitution; (b) fine; and (c) substantial

monetary penalty. After sentencing, the Government agrees: to release: all lis

pendens, restraining orders, liens, or other encumbrances or property except to

the extent necessary to assure valid security for the payments of all amounts

referenced above. United shall develop and submit to the Court an effective .

compliance and ethics program consistent with §882.1 (Effective Compliance

and Ethics Program) of the United States Sentencing Guidelines. United shall

include in its submission a schedule for implementation of the compliance and

ethics program.

6. Upon approval by the Court of the ethics program referred to

above, United shall notify its owners, shareholders, directors, officers, and

employees of its criminal behavior and its programs referred to above. Such

notice shall be in a form prescribed by the Court.

7. United shall make periodic reports to the Government and to

the Court at intervals and in a form specified by the Court, regarding the

organization's progress in implementing the ethics program referred to above.

Among other things, such reports shall disclose any criminal prosecution, civil

litigation, or administrative proceeding commenced against United, or' any

investigation or formal inquiry by governmental authorities concerning United's

financial operations of which United learned since its last report.
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IX.

UNITED WAIVES APPEAL AND COLLATERAL ATTACK

In exchange for the Government's concessions in this. Plea Agreement,

United waives,. to the full extent of the law, any tight to appeal orcollaterally

attack the conviction and sentence, including any restitution order, except in the

following circumstances: (i) the sentence exceeded the maximum statutory

penalty; or (ii) the sentence violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States

Constitution.

X.

FURTHER CRIMES OR BREACH OF THE AGREEMENT WILL PERMIT THE
GOVERNMENT TO RECOMMEND A HIGHER SENTENCE OR TO SET ASIDE

THE PLEA

This Plea Agreement is based on the understanding that United will

commit no additional criminal conduct before sentencing. If United engages in

additional criminal conduct between the time of execution of this agreement and

the time of sentencing, or breaches any of the terms of any agreement with the

Government, the Government will not be bound by the recommendations in this

Plea Agreement and may recommend any lawful sentence.

XI.

COOPERATION WITH INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE AND VIRGIN ISLANDS
BUREAU OF INTERNAL REVENUE

During the pendency of this matter, United, its shareholders, the individual

defendants in this case, and certain related entities and individuals identified in

various pleadings or motions in this case, upon the specific advice of their

counsel in this matter, did not file tax returns and certain other reporting

l o.
5228044.1
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documents to the United States or the United States Virgin Islands (USVI) on

Fifth Amendment grounds. During the pendency of this matter, those same

individuals and entities endeavored to work cooperatively with the U.S. Marshals

Service and the USVI governments to pay over as deposits their best estimate of

taxes owed on those returns.

Prior to sentencing, United agrees to cooperate with the Government and

the VIBIR in filing complete and accurate corporate income tax returns and gross

receipts returns for years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006., 2007,. and 2008 and in

paying in full the amounts due thereupon. United agrees to comply with all

current tax reporting and payment obligations between the execution of this

agreement and sentencing. In addition, prior to the sentencing hearing in this

matter, United's shareholders (FY 32.5%, FY 32.5%, SY 7%, ZY 7%, YY 7 %,

MY 7%, NY 7 %), and the individual defendants shall file the outstanding returns

and reporting documents and shall make full payments of the amounts due

thereupon. United acknowledges that a special condition of probation will require

that ali corporate returns be fled, and all amounts due and owing under this

agreement and all taxes due and owing for tax years 2002 through 2008 must be

paid prior to the termination of the period of probation:

The Government agrees that no foreign bank account - related charges or

discretionary penalties shall be applied with respect to United or any of the

individual defendants so long as such reporting and regulatory compliance is

made for each of the years 1996 through 2008 prior to sentencing.

11
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XII.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Plea Agreement and Exhibit 2 embody the entire agreement between

the parties.

Upon the acceptance of the plea of guilty to Count Sixty by United in

accordance with this agreement, the Government agrees to promptly move the

Court for an Order. dismissing the restraining orders against the individual

defendants, except to the extent necessary to assure valid security for the

payments of all amounts referenced in paragraph VIII., and shall move for entry

of an order removing of record all notices of lis pendens or other encumbrances

filed in connection with this case against all properties owned in whole or in part

by any persons other than United. The parties agree to meet and confer to

determine a schedule to remove pending lis pendens, liens, and other

restrictions.

XIII.

MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT MUST BE IN WRITING

No modification of the Plea. Agreement shall be effectiveunless in writing

signed by the Government, United, the individual defendants, and United's

shareholders.

XIV.

UNITED AND COUNSEL FULLY UNDERSTAND AGREEMENT

By signing this Plea Agreement, United's representative certifies that he or

she has been given lawful authority to enter into this Plea Agreement. United

further certifies that its counsel has discussed the terms of this Plea Agreement

12
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with appropriate officer and directors of United and that United fully understands

its meaning's. and effect.

The Government agrees to the terms set forth in this Plea Agreement

RONALD SHARPE
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

JOHN A. DICICCO
ACTING ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, TAX DIVISION

Dated: 1-12-6 110 tM - . a ly
Lori A. Hendrickson
Kevin C. Lombardi
Trial Attorneys

The defendant United Corporation agrees to the terms set forth in this Plea
Agreement

Dated: 2, 2 G / ¡v

Dated:

Dated:

Thomas Alkon, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Unite Corporation

Warren B. Cole, Esq.
Attomey for Defendant United Corporation

Warren B. Cole, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant's unindicted shareholders

13
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Dated: Z -Z^: /o

Dated: 2. / 2.6 N

Dated: 24/°

Dated:

Dated: /o

Dated: 24 ef

Maher Fathi Yusuf
President, Defendant United Corporation

C.
Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Named

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq`
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

amela Colon, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waheed Mohammed Hamed

1y. C. Smock, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Fathi Yusuf Mohamed Yusuf

Dated: Z,2 `r6 k bra.. f-7 4e4
.1i3lin K. Dema, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Maher Fathi Yusuf

14
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EXHIBIT I- RESTITUTION NUMBERS FOR TAX LOSS

Description Government Defendant

Gross Receipts Tax 1996 $324049.55 $0.00

Gross Receipts Tax 1997 $234,506.94 $0,00

Gross Receipts Tax 1998 $619,496.89 $272,251.00

Gross Receipts Tax 1999 $5$8,830.86 $603,633.00

Gross Receipts Tax 2000 $642,057.28 $642,057.00

Gross Receipts Tax 2001 $478,83233 $386,081.00

TOTAL GROSS RECEIPTS TAXES $2,857,873.85 $1,904,022.00

Corporate Income Tax - 1996 $2,214,307.41 $0.00

Corporate Income Tax - 1997 $2,360,868.66 $427,011.00

Corporate Income Tax - 1998 $3,993,535.34 $488,32100

TOTAL CORPORATE INCOME TAX $8,568,711.41 $915,334:00

Individual Income Tax - 1999 -FY 32.5% $1,046,359.70 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 1999 -FY 32.5% $1,046,359.70 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 1999 -SY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 1999 -ZY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 1999- YY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 1999 -MY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 1999 - NY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00

TOTAL INDIVIDUAL INCOME TAX - 1999 $3,219,568.31 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2000 -FY 32.5% $1,458,473:19 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2000 - Fy 32.5% $1,458,473.19 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2000 - SY 7% $314,132.69 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2000 -ZY 7% $314,132.69 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2000 - YY 7% $314,132.69 $0.00

Individual Income Tax -2000 -MY 7% $314,132.69 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2000 NY 7% $314,13269 $0.00

TOTAL INDIVIDUAL INCOME TAX - 2000 $4,487,609.81 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2001 -FY 32.50À $1,545,993.69 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2001 -FY 32.5% $1,545,993.69 $0.00
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Individual Income Tax - 2001 - SY 7% $332,983.26 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2001 -ZY 7% $332,983.26 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2001 - YY 7% $332,983.26 $0.00

Individual Income Tax - 2001 -MY rh $332,983.26 $O0

Individual Income Tax - 2001 - NY 7% $332,983.26 $0.00

TOTAL INDIVIDUAL INCOME TAX - 2001 $4,756,903.67 $0.00

TOTAL ALL TAXES $23,890,667.04 $2,819,356.00
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February 12, 2010

Lori A. Hendrickson, Esq.
US DOETax Div ision/N.Criminal Section
601 D. Street NW, Room 7814
Washington, DC 20004-2904

Re: United States v. Fathi Yusuf, Crim. No. 05-0015

Dear Ms. Hendrickson:

We write to memorialize the process and parameters that will culminate in a formal
plea agreement in this case. The parties have agreed to the following terms:

Defendant United Corporation (d.b.a. Plaza Extra) agrees to plead guilty to Count
Sixty, filing a false 2001 Form 1120S, in violation of Title 33, Virgin Islands Code,,

Section 1525(2);

The government agrees to dismiss the pending charges against the individual
defendants immediately after defendant United Corporation's guilty plea has been
entered in court by an authorized representative of defendant United Corporation,
according to the terms 'of a signed plea agreement. The Government agrees not to
prosecute United' Corporation or any other individual or entity for any other crimes
arising out of the conduct alleged in the Third Superseding Indictment;

The government agrees to dismiss the remaining pending charges against United at
the, sentencing. hearing;

The parties agree to meet with each other and with representatives of the. Virgin
Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue (VIB1R) to ny to reach agreement for restitution
numbersl for unpaid gross receipts taxes, corporate income taxes, and individual
income taxes for the Indictment years 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001.
The numbers for which the parties are able to agree will be set forth in the plea
agreement;

If the parties are unable to reach agreement on any of the tax loss numbers for the
Indictment years, they will set forth :their own tax loss numbers for each year and
for each particular tax, in a format identical to the attached chart.. The parties agree
that the final determination of the restitution amount -fix the unpaid gross. receipts.
taxes, corporate income taxes, and individual income taxes for the Indictment years
1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001, will be made by Judge Finch after the
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Letter of Agreement
February 12, 2010
Page 2 of 5

parties submit sentencing memoranda and present testimonial and documentary
evidence at a hearing. The parties agree that Judge Finch will determine a liability
based on the range of numbers asserted by the parties in the plea agreement.

The determination of Judge Finch of the restitution by United Corporation shall be
conclusive of all taxes due and owing to the Government of the Virgin Islands for
years 1996, 1997; 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001 with respect to all taxes of the
shareholders of United Corporation, both indicted and non-indicted, and employees
of United, including Waheed Hamed and Waleed Hamed, due on or for or on
account of income earned by United Corporation during said years and upon
payment all such tax liabilities shall be deemed satisfied in HI.

Defendant United Corporation agrees to a term of probation of one year, and agrees
to be monitored by an independent third party certified public accounting firm
during the term a probation to assure its compliance with the tax laws of the
VIBIR. The selection of the independent third party will be expressly approved by
the government prior to the beginning of the term of probation. If the parties cannot
reach agreement on a third party, the independent third party will be selected by the
Court;

The government agrees not to prosecute United Corporation or individual
defendants, or assert any civil or criminal accuracy related or reporting penalties, in
years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, and 2008, provided that the individual
defendant tender documentary proof that they have filed tax returns and paid tax
due as set forth on those returns and as reviewed and accepted by the VIBIR;

United, its shareholders, and the individual defendants referenced in the
Indictment agree to cooperate with VIBIR to file MI and complete tax returns for
all post indictment years through present and to make :full payment on any
amounts due thereon. The Government agrees that no interest, penalties, or time
and interest sensitive penalties should be imposed on the post-indictment returns
so long as said returns are 'filedin accordance with this agreement. To the extent
tax deposits already submitted exceed the amOunt owed on the post indictment
returns as filed, such deposits should be reallocated to other tax periods or
refunded to the particular tax payer. The VIBIR.reserves the. right to review the
returns tobe filed hereunder to determine whether they are accurate as filed.

No foreign bank account-related charges or discretionary penalties shall be
applied with respect to any of the individuals and entities so long as such
reporting and regulatory compliance is made for the subject post-indictment
years. (United States Department of Justice, and not VIBIR, has authorization
over this provision).

The parties agree that United will pay a $5,000 fine and that the Government may
seek a substantial monetary penalty. The parties will negotiate in good faith to
determine the character of this penalty and will set forth a defined range from
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Letitx of Agreement
February 12, 2010
Page.3 ors

which Judge Finch will make a final rtding. The parties agree that the
Government may also seek reirebursement. from United for the actual costs of
pogeoution, whith will be set .forth in the plea agreement. United reserves the,

right to contest the above mentioned penalties and prosetution

Defendant United. Corporation, the individual defendants, and the sherehoidere of
United Cotporatiort, all ague to tile original individual income tax returns (or

correcting amended .tetunis, if appropriatelfOr the years 2002 20)3, 2004, 2005,

2006,2001, and 2008, and prairie any documentation or information requested by

the VIBIR in order for the MIR to make their own Independent review and

.assessment of the accuracy of Such returns Defendant United Corporation, the

individual defendants, and the shareholderg of United Corporation l agree to take

these actions prior. to the sentencing hearing

The United States government and tte Unittd Stan* Virgin Islands government

agree to tkte temts.rxt forth in this Letter of Agreement.

RONALD SHARPE
UNITED VA' rks ATTORNEY

JOHN A. DIC1000
ACTING ASSITANT ATTORNEY GENERL
=Amara OF JUSTICE
TAX DIVISION

Dated: 211212010 );ri C . itt411141i
Mark F. Daly
Lori k Hendrickson
Kovin C. Lombardi

Dated:
andette W PAndersott

Director
'Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal RISVCDUM

Denise '
Assistant end
Virgin Islands Department ofmitica
Office of the Attorney General

The defendant United Corporation agrees to the terms:set forth inthis Letter of

Agreement.
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Letter of Agreement
February 12, 2010
Page 4 of 5

Dated: t/6/19

Dated: e

Dated: Z/ZiX0

Dated: )/

Dated: alloaa/6

Dated:

Dated:

Dated: he/0

Dated: / Ciro

no
as Alko , Esq.
ey for Defendant United Corporation

Warren B. Cole, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant United Corporation

MAHER FATHI YUSUF
President, Defendant United Corporation

Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Harried

Derek M.. Hodge, Esq.
Attorney fOr Defendant Nejeh Fithi Yuslif

Pamela Colon,Colon, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waheed Moh med Hamed

C. Smock, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Fathi Yusuf Mohamad Yusuf

1

(An K. Dema, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Maher Fathi Yusuf
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Re

September 19,2016

To: Joel Holt, Esquire

From: Lawrence Schoenbach, Esquire

Expert Opinion re: United Corporation (STX);
Mohammad. Hamed u. Fúhi Yusuf and United CorporaÍion;
St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands

OPINION LETTER

You have engaged me to render an expert opinion in the context of the civil

litigation currentlyin the Superior Court of the Virginlslands, Divisionof St. Croix, in
a matter captioned Mohnmmød. Hamed u. Fafhi Yusuf and United Corporúíon, docket

numberCivil No. SX-12-CV-37O(Brady,J.). Specifically,you have sought the expert
opinion of a criminal defense attorneywith experience in federal criminal practice and

so-called "white collar" business crimes involving tax evasion, money laundering,

andf or compliance.

In pa,rticular, you have asked me to determine whether it is possible for the

books and records of a business entity to be re-constructed after a business entity
(here a pa.rtnership) has been deeply involved in a money-laundering such as the one

presented here.

Further, you have asked me to render an expert opinion as an experienced

criminallawyerwho advises individuals and companies on compliance with criminal
lawst -- pa.rticularly white collar and business entity crimes. I have been asked to

1 Although my primary law practice is in the federal courts in New York City

EXHIBIT

c

(Southern and Eastern Districts of New York), I am admitted to (and have re sented

HAMD635570
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L,,TWNT,N<TI, H. SCLIOENBACI I, PLLC

JoBr. Holr, Esgurne
Septpn¿eBR 19,2016
PacB 2

D<pBRr OpIwIotrr nB: UNItBo CoReoRnrroN;
Monnuulnn Heupo V. FATÆ :ruSEF AND UNITED
Conrcneno¡v (Sr. Cnorx)

reviewaseriesof documentsrelatedtothe instantlitigation, as well as the related
criminalindictment, andto formulate an opinion basedupon them.

Documents Revlewed

In connection with this Opinion Letter, I have reviewed the filed docume nts of

record containing Hamed's claims, the defenses, the analysis done by Hame d's CPA

regarding 2Ol2-present, various deposition and other testimony (identifiedwithin this
Opinion Letter) and following documents:

. Memorandum Opinion in response to Plaintiff's Emergency Motion and
memorandum to RenewApplication for TRO (Brady, J.);

Opinion Letter of David Jackson, PC;o

. "Exhibit 5" consisting of a plea agreement between the United States and
the criminal defendants charged in Indictment 2OO5-I4F /B; and a
supplemental plea agreement; and a second addendum to the plea agreemen!

. "Exhibit 6" consisting of the cover letter of RSM McGladrey, Inc., þ
RonaldJ. Soluri, Sr., ManagingDirector; FlowChart, and a Letter of Waleed
Hamed, dated July 22, 1998; and

. "Defendant khibit C" consisting of a Press Release from the United
States Attorney for the Virgin Islands, Indictment 2OO3-147 (St. Thomas
Division) captioned United Stafes of Ameríca and Gouernment of the Virgin
Islands u. Fúhi Yusef Mohnrnd Yusef, et a1.; Defendant's Notice of Filing of
Criminal lndictment (Third Superseding Indictment), dated September 8, 2OO4;
a PleaAgreement betweenthe Government and the defendants named in the
indictment;

o ,A' PACER search of the ECF docket sheet for Indictment 05-Cr-OOO15
(RLF)(GwB).

The various documents referenced herein.a

clients in criminal proceedings in) the U.S. Virgin Islands and the federal districtcourt
in Puerto Rico. I have also represented clients throughout the country and
internationally. A portion of my practice involves advising business clients on
regulatory and potential criminal matters and I have done so in the U.S. Virgin Islands
and elsewhere. My resume and curriculumvitae are annexed hereto.
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SeptBn¿eBR 19,2016
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EXpBRT OpINIoN RB: UNITeo ConeonRrloN;
Mo¡anwtwen Huvtnn v. FATHI :rusan AND Uwrcno
Conponenor (Sr. Cnorx)

The Facts

In 2003 a grand jury sitting in St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands voted a 76-count
indictment against United Corporation ("United") and various related individuals,

including, among others, Fathi Yusuf and members of his and Mohammad Hame d's

families. The indictment charged, inter alia, numerous counts of mail fraud,

money laundering, enterprise corruption (pursuant to Virgin Islands Law), and tax
evaslon.

Although all of the individual defendants were charged in the criminal
indictment, only the corporate defendant, United Corporation ("United" or the

"Company''), was convicted of a crime (Count 6O -- tax evasion).2 For purposes of this
Opinion Letter, it is the Company's guilty plea and conviction, as well as its
admissions during the course of the plea of guilty, that allow me to reach the

conclusions herein.

United is a corporate entity whollyowned by Fathi Yusuf and family. He is an
offrcer of the Compa.ny and his son, Mike (Maher) Yusuf, is the President. It is my
understanding, based upon the findings of fact þ Judge Brady in his Memorandum
Opinion that Mohammad Hamed, although a pa.rtner in the PIaza Extra supermarkets
in St. Croix and St. Thomas, was nof a shareholder or officer of United.s Critical to my

analysis is that United admitted at the time of entry of the corporate plea that it
under-reported gross receipts þ utilizing the money laundering scheme outlined in
the 3.¿ superseding indictment. Specifically, in admitting guilt to Count 60 of the
indictment, United admitted that:

On or about September 79, 2OO2, United willfully aided, assisted, procured,
counseled, advised, or caused the prepa.ration and presentation of a materially
false corporate income tax return on Form 1120S for the year 20O1 and filed
such return with the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue ("VIBIR").
Specifically, United Reported gross receipts or sales on line 1c as $69, 579,4I2,

2 Byagreementbetween thepa.rtiesandthe Government, Unitedwas allowed to
plead guilty to one count of tax evasion in full satisfaction of the indictment. The case
against the remaining defendants was dismissedwith prejudice.

s "Yusuf's management and control of the "office" was such that Hamed was
completely removed from the financial aspects of the business." See Memorandum
Opinion (Brady, J), datedApril 25, 2OI4, at fl 19.
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knowing that the true amount was approximately $79,3O5,980.

By pleading guilty United acknowledged that it underreported its 2001 gross

receiptsþnearly$tO million. More importantly,forpurposes of makingan accurate,
and legal accounting of the true gross receipts of the company from in the ye ars prior
to 20O1, one must understand the nature of that tax evasion during the relevant time
period.

According to the indictment, from "at least as early as in or about January
1996 and continuing through at least in or about Septembe r, 2OO2, defendantt] . . .

UNITED defrauded the Virgin Islands of money in the form of tax revenue,

specifically territorial gross receipts taxes þ failing to report at least $00 rnittion
ín Plaza Extra sales on gross receipts tax returns and corporate income tax returns..

See Indictment, at 1T10. The fraudulentscheme to report gross receipts was, according

to the indictment, inter alia, for United and certain of its officers/employees:

to withhold from deposit substantial amounts of cash received from sales,
typically bilts in denominations of $1O0, $5O, and $20. Instead of being
deposited into the bank accounts with other sales receipts, this cash' was
delivered toone of the defendants or placed in a dedicated safe in a cash room.
From 1996 through 2OO1, tens of millions of dollars in cashwaswithheld from
deposits in this manner and as such, was not reported as gross reæþts on tax
returns filed þ UNITED.

Indictment, atlI2.

Once United skimmed these extraordinary amounts of cash from its gross

receipts, it engagedin "various efforts to disguise andconceal the illegal scheme and

itsproceeds. . . by, [amongseveralmethods,]purchas[ing]cashier'schecks, traveler's

checks, and money orders with unreported cash, typically from different bank

branches and made pa.yable to individuals and entities other than the de fendants, in

order to disguise the cash as legitimate-appearing financial instrumen¡s." See

Indictment, at T15. Much of the illegally underreported income was then sent to

various banks and/or other entities off shore.
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I accept the allegations made in the indictment to which United pled guilty, at a

minimum as to United and its officers, because the standard of proof for a grand jury
indictmentis probable cause to believe acrime was committed (i.e. more likely than
not) and the defendant committed the crime. It is the same standard of proof in a civil
case. The indictmentallegedthatfrom 1996-2OO7 Unitedwas involved in the same

scheme to skim from its $SOO mittion gross revenues cash receipts of approximate Iy

$00 mittion, I have no reason to disbelieve this allegation as a factual premise, at least

for purposes of this Opinion Letter because United has acknowledged þ its guilty plea

its complicityin the scheme to underreportits income and thus partnership funds.

The scheme to skim funds from the stores (i.e. removalof funds from sales

receipts before those funds are accounted for and taxes pa.id on them) is a classic

white collar/business crime in which the purpose is to hide those funds from the

governmental taxing authorities to avoid taxation, both regarding the receipt and

disbursement. Most of such tax avoidance schemes require the removal of funds

before accounting and/or the alteration of accounting records to reflect less cash

receivedþ the companythanultimatelyreported. The methodusedhere, removal of

funds prior to theirbeing reported as sales, can be accomplishe d by seve ral me ans,

some of which 'were used here, to wit: those acting on behalf of the Compa.ny took

cash out of sales before the Compa.ny could properly account for them. Another

example of the fraudulentschemeinvolvedcashingchecksforthirdpa.rties and then
keepingandtransactingthecheckselsewhere. Cashwasdistributedwithoutrecords
or controls or those records were destroyed.

The most fundamental feature of such a scheme is that the actual accounting
records of the entitydo not, and in fact cannot, accuratelyreflect the amount of cash

taken in. No proper accounting can be determined from the Compa.ny's financial

records because the gross receipts have been intentionally misapplied and

documented. The very purpose of this sort of scheme is to render any accounting

inaccurate. Moreover, any remaining records would have to be suspect because a

criminal--withcriminalintentandacriminalpurpose -- would have created them.
Further, because of the admitted lack of internal controls at United during the pre -
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2001 time period, there could be no legal or properly accurate wayby which one could
ascertain the correct amount of cash actually received or disbursed by the compa.ny.+

It is critical that the pa.rties have both admitted that many records of

transaction that should have gone into any accurate accounting were not kept or

mutually and intentionally destroyed. For example, in his deposition, Mike Yusuf,

Presidentof UnitedCorporation (andFathiYusuf'soldest son) testified that he and

some of the Hamed brothers, upon hearing that the FBI was about to raid them in
2OOI, intentionallydestroyed"awhole heapof' records (including those that would
show where millionsin cash pa.rtnershipfunds reallywent -- two months before the
FBI raidand subsequentcriminalcharges).sAs such, therecouldbe no way to verify

4 | note that the plea agreement, at page 9, 11 5, requires the compa.ny to "develop and
submit to the Court an effective compliance and ethics program consistent with $ 882.1
(Effective Compliance and Ethics Program) of the United States Sentencing Guidelines." No
such compliance program was in place in 2001 or for the years prior to that date.

s At the April 3, 2Ol4 deposition Mike Yusuf testified, at pages 62-65, as follows
(emphasis supplied):

Q. Okay. And to the best of your knowledge, all of those receipts still exist today from
1986 on?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Why don't you tell me about that?

A. About what?

Q. Why -- why some of them don't exist?

A. Should I explain -- that would explain the 1.6 that we have here on the letter.

Q. I'11 get there, I swear. I just want to -- right now, I just want to know, I asked you if
I could go around and collect all these receipts, add them up and find out how much the
Ilameds took out, and how much the Yusufs. You said yes. And I said, So I should be able
to do that from the -- from back till now, and you said, no, there's a problem. You said some
might be in the possession of a third party.

A. Right

Q. When I have those from the third party, will I then be able to get that number?
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the completenessof such records. Because the verynature of the crime, particularly
money laundering/tax evasion, is to hide such incoming and outgoing funds from

legitimate accounting it is impossible to determine and account for any portion of that
amounteachpa.rtnerhasorowestotheother. Sincemanysuchtransactions\Mere
not recorded or destroyed, anyremaining"records" can neverbe legitimately cre dited

or debited against the unknown amounts.

Fathi Yusuf was (and remains) the majority owner of United Corporation.

United was the corporate entity used þ him, and others, to accomplish the tax

A. To physically check every receipt by receipt?

Q. Through all the -

A. The¡e's -- there's some receipt was destroyed by Waleed Hamed, and some
receipts were destroyed by me.

Q. Okay. Tell me about that.

A. Sure. In 2000 -- that's, I'm -- to erçlain to you, that's where the 1.6, I'm going to
e:çlain.

A. 2001, that's the -- the year that we had the raid.

Q. Okay. What -- approximately what date [was the FBI raid]?

A. October 23rd of 2OOI.

Q. Okay.

A. Okay. Sometime I would say a month and a half to two months before that, Waleed
got a call from Waheed saying that something is going on. Some kind of agency is coming to
spot check us, look at us. . . ltrf e didn't know. So between among us. we decided to destroy
some of the receipts. because thevwere all in cash. We pulled out a goodbit of receipts
from the safes in Plaza East. Mufeed was present with me. He had a whole, a heap of
receipts for the Hameds only. It could be from either one of the I'Iameds, once it's the
Hamed. And receipts from the Yusuf, which basically was just me, not, you know, nobody
else. Mufeed, I guess you call it, tallied, and, you know, put a tape on what theywithdraw, and
Iputatally,atape,onwhatlwithdraw. Andlgavehimmyreceiptstodouble-checkmywork,
he gave me his receipt to double-check his work. Once everything dropped to the penny, we
were hne, I said, Listen. I'm destroying my receipts. You know what I owe you guys. I owe
you guys 1.3 million, and at that time, they had pulled in receipts about 2.9 million. Wally
wanted to take a look at it, and as far as I know, Wallygot rid of the receipts. So 1.3 million
lrom 2.9 million, this is where you get the i.6 million. (Ernphasis supplied.)
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evasion in 2001 to which United admitted its guilt.o Moreover, Mr. Yusef has

re pe atedly stated that he was in charge of the busine ssesT and was ce rtainly in charge

0 This is not to say that others were not involved. Corporations can only act through its
individual agents. The Government charged activities in aid of the scheme by several of the
Yusuf and Hamed sons and others. Who directed, as opposed to carried out, the acts is not a
particularly relevant factor in this matter. The relevant fact is that United has admitted, by its
guilty plea, that funds from Plaza Ex']cra were never accounted for as gross receipts of the
company (nor is there any documentation reflecting how these unreported funds were divided,
if at all, among the recipients). The example of Mike Yusuf's testimony as to both family's
cooperation in pre-FBl-raid destruction of millions of dollars in records underlines why no
proper evaluationof theaccountingor partnershipvalueprior to200 1 ispossible.

7 Support for this statement can be foundin several places. For example, at the outset of
this case, Mohammad Hamed testified at the January 25,2OI3 Preliminary Injunction hearing
that the agreement in the partnership was that Mr. Yusuf would be in control of the front office
functions and he (Hamed) was in charge of the warehouse/store operations. Similarly, at the
same hearing, Wally Hamed agreed, on cross-examination:

Thatwas the duty of Fathi Yusuf, he was responsible for the office
Because Fathi Yusuf was in charge, correct?
No, he was responsible for the offrce.

Tr. 100

' Further, in Yusufs March 4, 2OI3 Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law
submitted to the Court after those hearings, Yusuf specifically asked for a finding that he was
in charge of the business' functions which would include accounting and pa.yment of taxes -
agreeing with Hamed's statement, to wit:

40. Mohammad Hamed also readily admitted that he never worked in any
management capa.city at any of the Plaz,a ù<tra Stores, whích role was under
the exclusive ultimate control of Fathí Yusuf, as Fathi Yusuf "is in charge
for everybody" and everything. (Jan. 25, 2013 Hr'g Tr. At 2OI :4 (reflecting
Mohammad Hamed's concession, even during his direct testimony, that "Mr.
Yusuf he is in charge for everybody"), 2OI:23 -24, 2IO:21 -23 (acknowledging
again that Fathi Yusuf is in "charge" of "all the three stores] ")).

After the Court's April 2013 Preliminøry Injunction was issued in response to that
testimony, Yusuf continued his assertion that he alone was in charge of the pa.rtnership's
management functions -- as was the case in his May 9,2OI3, Motionto Støy the Preliminary
Injunction.

However, the testimony of the Plaintiff was clear when he admitted that he never
worked in any management capacity at any of the PIaza Þ'tra Stores, which
role q¡as under the exclusive ultimate control of Fathi Yusuf. . .

A
a
A

Id. at 6
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of the office functionswhichwouldinclude accountingandpayment (or avoidance) of
taxes. This would mean that he was "in charge of' and directed what I can state was a

sophisticated scheme involving international money laundering and offshore banks - -

and the attendant alteration of accounting records.

Conclusion

Because the nature of the tax fraud in this case (i.e. the skimming of gross

receipts and cash distributions through various means) involves deception and, by

definition, an incomplete set of books and records of the company, it is impossible for
the pa,rtnership to reconstruct an accurate set of books and records prior to 2001.

Although the pa.rties and the Governmenthave agreed to recognizæ approrirnately $ 1O

million in underreported gross income for the 2OO1 tax year, there is no such

agreementfortheyearspriorto 2001. Even if itcan be assumedthatthe $1O million

Indeed, in a motion filed soon thereafter, in which Yusuf attempted to preclude the
Hameds from all accounting information, he stated, with regard to the accounting:

There is no dispute that Defendant Fathi Yusuf has always been the ultimate
decision maker.

See May 16, 2OI3, Defendants' Motion To Clarifg Sæpe Of Preliminary Injunction With Respect
To United Corporation's Finqncial Statements, And Access To United's Financial Sysfems, at 3.

Finally, because Mr. Yusuf had, appa.rently, complete control over the accounting and
accounting records and would not allow Hamed access, the Court entered an order ending that
absolute control. On May 31, 2013 the Court:

ORDERED that Defendant United Corporation shall provide revised
financial statements for the three Plaza Extra Supermarket stores only within 30
days of the date of this Order;

ORDERED that said hnancial statements for the three Plaza ktra
Supermarket stores shall be used for internal purposes only, and may not be
disseminated to any third parties (excepting legal, accounting and tax advisors
of the Parties) without the written consent of the other Party, and

ORDERED that only mutual access of all sensitive fínancial data,
records and financial statements shall be permitted according to a process to
be determinedby the Parties.
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of underreported income in 2OO1 is accurate, it cannot be known, within any degree of
legal or factual certaint5r, where or to whom the moneywent.

The only year for which there is a specific acknowledgment of a defined amount
of underreported income is 2001. It is the onlyyear for which there can be any proper,

legal accounting. The nearly $1O million of 2001 gross receipts was secreted and,

presumably, given to someone. It is now impossible, by use of United's tax re turns or
accounting records, to determine where that money went. This is pa.rticularly true
because the underlying income was cash and because much of the unre ported gross

receipts were transmitted in various forms internationally.

The only other arguably, detailed and accurate "accounting" related to this
period was contemporaneously done by the U.S. Attorney's Office, which I am

informed will be attached to Hamed's Notíce of Claims for the Court's review.

Because there is transaction-by-transactiondocumentary support for this accounting,

it shows that Mr. Yusuf took $4.5 million more than Hamed out of the pa.rtnership

that, alongwith interest,wouldnow be due to Mr. Hamed.

Specifically, the FBI and the U.S. Attorney's Office performed a detailed

accounting and analysis of funds covertly removed from the pa.rtnershipfrom L996 to
2OOL. On January 4, 2OO5, the Government produced a document showing the

amount Fathi Yusuf or his family received in cash or transfers from the Partnership --
and the amount Hamed or his family received. See Document Bates numbered

H4MD629722-HAMD63O014. The document is accompanied by extensive, line-by-line,

date-specific supporting records from offshore banks, wire transfers and othe r me ans

by which funds were removed. Thus, the FBI was able to specifically trace

disbursements of over $47 million between 1996 and 2OOI. The document was

prepa.red as pa,rt of the criminal case 2003-I47 and would normally be used þ the

prosecution to calculate the amount of tax United failed to pay on behalf of the

pa.rtnership in its criminal settlement, conviction and allocution in that case. The

amount of the dispa.rity on the $+Z million skimmed was #4,646,276.96 overage to

Yusuf. This amount, plus interest should be due to Mr. Hamed. The chart be low was
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Emplovment Historv

Law Offices of Lawrence H. Schoenbach, PLLC
New York, New York

Legal Aid Society
Queens, New York

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom
New York, New York

Kings County District Attorney's Offrce
Brookl5m, New York

Private Practice of Law
1983-present

Public Defender - NYC
1980-1983

Summer Associate
t979

Summer Intern
L97B

Private Law Practice - Overview

Since 1983 the Law Offices of Lawrence H. Schoenbach, PLLC and primarily, its
principal attorney, Lawrence H. Schoenbach, has had a varied national and
international litigation practice concentrating on criminal defense and since 2001, on
Corporate Compliance. Mr. Schoenbach is admitted to practice law in New York and
the United States Virgin Islands. Although based primarily in New York, the firm has
affiliate offices in Paris, Z:uricl:', Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. Mr.
Schoenbach is also the New York partner in a Swiss law and business consulting firm.

For more tt:an 25 years, Mr. Schoenbach has worked as an instructor of trial
techniques at the National Institute of Trial Advocacy at the Hofstra University School
of Law (Hempstead, New York) and the Cardozo School of Law (New York, New York).
Mr. Schoenbach has also appeared regularly as a legal commentator on what was
formerly known as Court TV.

Mr. Schoenbach has served as outside Compliance Counsel for a number of
companies, most recently a national wholesale distributor of tobacco products. He has

HAMD635581



j,/\\\/ ()trt{Ct¡S Otr

L^wÌì.t,iNCt ì H. Scl lol iNg¡cl l, PLLC

drafted corporate Compliance Manuals, and overseen their implementation
and personneltraining.

Mr. Schoenbach has tried to verdict well in excess of 100 jury trials primarily
in U.S. federal court and has represented clients throughout the United
States (Houston, Miami, Tampa, Seattle, Las Vegas, Boston, San Juan, St.
Thomas, St. Croix, Newark, Washington, D.C., and Palm Beach) as well as around
the world (Hong Kong, Saudi Arabia, Italy, France, Switzerland, Canada, Nigeria, and
Pakistan). Most of the firm's representation of its clients involved complex federal
criminal matters including, but not limited to, securities and tax investigations,
money laundering, and racketeering and violations of the Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act ("FCPA").

Mr. Schoenbach has argued before various federal and state Courts of Appeal
approximately 40 times. A sample of the more notable trials in U.S. District Court
in which Mr. Schoenbach was defense counsel includes:

.. The "Pizza Connection" ( a 22 defendant indictment in New York charging
$1.5 Billiqr narcotics conspiracy between the Sicilian and American mafia;

. The trial of the "Westies" (alleged to be New York's Irish mafia);

. The 1988 "Air America" civil forfeiture prosecution in Pennsylvania of
reputed former agent of the Central Intelligence Agency;

. The 14 month-long trial in New York of the "DeMeo Crew" of the Gambino
Crime family;

. The prosecution of "Phyber Optic," at the time the largest and most
comprehensive federa-l case ever charged against a computer "hacker;"

. The Securities & Exchange Commission civil and criminal investigation and
prosecution of the "Crazy Eddie" corporation;

. The attempted assassination conspiracy (in New York) of Egrptian President
Hosni Mubarak (a part of the case involving the 1993 bombing of the World Trade
Center in New York);

. The political corruption lbnbery prosecution in St. Thomas of the former
Commissioner of Public Works for the U. S. Virgin Islands; representation also of
the Governor of the U.S. Virgin Islands;

. The Swiss and American prosecution of the then-largest ever Securities
Fraud, Tax, and Money Laundering investigation involving the two countries
(concerning the sale of penny stocks and reverse mergers);

. Representation of the co-lead defendant in the criminal trial in Italy against
former Italian Prime Minister Giulio Andreotti; and

. Representation of the widow of Dr. Robert Atkins ("The Atkins Diet) in a
multi-district, multi- state civil litigation.
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Master of Arts, L98O
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IN THE TERRITORIAL COURT OF THE VIRGl:N ISL""~DS· · 
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JO~~ <· 

... ~ , j • ~ • 

AHMAD IDHEILEH, 
CIVll NO. 156/1997 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

UNITED CORPORATION and FA TID 
YUSUF, Individually 

ACTION FOR RECESSION BREACH OF 
CONTRACT and ACCOUNTING 

Defendant. 

AFFIDAVIT OF FATUI YVSUF 

I, Fathi Yusuf, being flrst duly sworn, do hereby depose and state as follows: 

1. 

2. 

3 .. 

4. 

5·. 

6. 

7. 

8·. 

I am an adult resident of the Virgin Islands. 

My brother in law, Mohamed Hamed, and I have been full partners in the Plaza Extra 1 
Supennarket since 1984 while we were obtaining financing and constructing the 1 

store, which finally opened in 1986. 

Mohamed Hamed and I decided to open a St. Thomas Plaza Extra store and used our I 
own capital and later obtained fmancing to make the store ready for opening. 

I 
Mohamed Hamed gave his eldest son, Walleed (a/k/a Wally), power of attorney to· 
manage his interests for the family. I 

I 

We negotiated a lease for the St. Thomas store with Tutu Park Ltd. and executed the 
agreement on May 30, 1991.. 

I 
On or about September, 1992, Ahmad Idheileh approached me wanting to invest in 1 
the St. Thomas Store. 

Hamed did not want a third partner, but I convinced him that Ahmad could run the 
store and would protect all of our investments. I 
On October 16, 1992, a Joint Venture Agreement was entered into between United 
and Plaintiff. See Exhibit A. 
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weeks later, Ahmad told me the Hometown transaction had fallen through. Later on 
that same week, Ahmad and I went to Avis on St. Croix to purchase a vehicle for my 
daughter. During our travels, Ahmad stated he still wanted the first $100,000 
installment in advance even though the first installment was not due for 
approximately nine months later, according to the agreement. Ahmad said "this is 
my money and I want it to put into a savings account.., Since he was not going to put 
the $100,000 into a business, I saw no reason to pay him ahead of schedule. Ahmad 
sent several Arab businessmen to me to pressure me to still pay him before it was , 
due. Members of the Arab community, including among others, Ahmad's brothers, 
Mr. Hannun and Mr. Shannouj, kept coming to me pressurins me to pay Ahmad the 
rest of his money in advance. We held yet another meeting at Mr. Hannun's home. 
Mr. Idheileb had no complaints about the Termination Agreement and the 
discussions were about United paying Ahmad ahead of schedule. Finally, on or about 
June 23, 1994, I did payhimhis $100,000 (less $7,000 that we had given him to buy 
a car) in advance of the first payment scheduled for January 20, 1995. I had finally 
received financing from Scotia and used some of that loan money to pay Ahmad on 

1 June 23. 1994. 

41. The Hameds and I were able to twn the store around by the last part of 1994. 

42. As a result of the continuing pressure put upon me by many fellow Arabs, I paid the 
1 

next installment on May 24, 1995 which was not due until January 20, 1996. 

43.. The remaining $200,000 for the last two installments was paid to Ahmad on I 
November 23, 1995 even though the last two installments were not due until January 1 
20, 1997 and January 20, 1998. 

44, Ahmad never complained to me that he executed the Termination Agreement under 
duress or as a result of any threats. 

FURTHER AFFIANT SA YBTH NAUGHT. 

DATED: 
FATHI YUSUF 

I SUBSCRIBED ~ SWORN TO 
before me this~ O.ay of September, 1999. 

It .C~·~ .&: L/.~ 
Notary Public 

Print name: £1Jw,tv 1?. WfiiTe 

Commission# .lfl/1'9 
My commission expires: ~ Jft'@/(1'3 
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IN THE TERRITORIAL COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

AHMAD IDHEILEH, )

Plaintiff, )

vs. ) Case No. 156/1997

UNITED CORPORATION and )

FATHI YUSUF, Individually,

Defendants.

)

)

THE ORAL DEPOSITION OF FATHI YUSUF

was taken on the 2nd day of February 2000, at the Offices of

Caribbean Scribes, 2132 Company St., Ste. 3, Christiansted,

St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, between the hours of

1:05 p.m. and 4:05 p.m. pursuant to Notice and Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure.

Reported by:

Cheryl L. Haase
Registered Professional Reporter

Caribbean Scribes, Inc.
2132 Company Street, Suite 3

Christiansted, St. Croix U.S.V.I.
(340),773 -8161

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161

-.
IN TH TERRITORIAL COURT OF TH VIRGIN ISLAS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMA AN ST. JOHN

Plaintiff,
)

)

)

)

) Case No. 156/1997
)

)

)

)

)

AH IDHEILEH,

vs.

UNITED CORPORATION and
FATHI YUSUF , Individually,

Defendants.

TH ORA DEPOSITION OF FATH! YUSUF

was taken on the 2nd day of February 2000, at the Offices of
".-,

Caribbean Scribes, 2132 Company St., Ste. 3, Christiansted,

St. Croix, U. S. Virgin Islands, between the hours of

1 : 05 p. m. and 4: 05 p. m. pursuant to Notice and Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure.

Re~orted by:

Cheryl L. Haase
Registered Professional Reporter

Caribbean Scribes, Inc.
2132 Company Street, Suite 3

Christiansted, St. Croix U. S. V. I.
(340) .773-8161

,.

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773-8161 CC~r?Y

Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB   Document #: 1151-1   Filed: 07/13/09   Page 1 of 96
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A-P-P-E-A-R-A-N-C-E-S

For the Plaintiff:

Law Offices of
Elmo A. Adams
c/o Office of the Governor
Government House
21 - 22 Kongens Gade
St. Thomas, USVI 00802

By: Elmo Adams

For the Defendants:

Law Offices of
Bethaney J. Vazzana
47 King Street
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Bethaney J. Vazzana

Also Present:

Ahmad Idheileh

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161

~
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A-P-P-E-A-R-A-N-C-E-S

For the Plaintiff:

Law Offices of
Elmo A. Adams
c/o Office of the Governor
Government House
21 - 22 Kongens Gade
St. Thomas, USVI 00802

By: Elmo Adams

For the Defendats:

Law Offices of
Bethaney J. Vazzana
47 King Street
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Bethaney J. Vazzana

Also Present:

Ahmad Idheileh

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773-8161

Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB   Document #: 1151-1   Filed: 07/13/09   Page 2 of 96
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23
FATHI YUSUF -- DIRECT

MR. ADAMS: Let the record indicate I'm

showing Mr. Yusuf a copy of the Joint Venture Agreement.

A. I sees Mr. Idheileh and myself and Notary Public,

and I believe it's a witness underneath. I don't know.

Q. (Mr. Adams) Now --

A. Notary Public someplace else, and the same

witness, and my signature repeated again on a different page.

My son. Yeah, my son is the president of United Corporation.

whom?

Q. Now, sir, the Joint Venture Agreement is between

A. Between -- if you have to look at it this way, -

Q. No, no, I'm looking --

A. -- between me, my partner and him.

Q. No, Mr. Yusuf. Let us look at the Joint Venture

Agreement that was signed.

A. Yeah, I seen it. United Corporation.

Q. Thank you.

A. But I want you please to be aware that my

partner's with me since 1984, and up to now his name is not

in my corporation. And that -- excuse me -- and that prove

my honesty. Because if I was not honest, my brother -in -law

will not let me control his 50 percent. And I know very

well, my wife knows, my children knows, that whatever

Plaza Extra owns in assets, in receivable or payable, we have

a 50 percent partner.

Cheryl L. Haase
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20 in my corporation. And that -- excuse me and that prove

21 my honesty. Because if I was not honest, my brother-in-law

22 will not let me control his 50 percent. And I know very

23 well, my wife knows, my children knows, that whatever

24 Plaza Extra owns in assets, in receivable or payable, we have

'~

23
FATHI YUSUF -- DIRE

MR. ADAM: Let the record indicate I'm

showing Mr. Yusuf a copy of the Joint Venture Agreement.

A. I sees Mr. Idheileh and myself and Notary Pulic,

and I believe it's a witness underneath. I don't know.

Q. (Mr. Ad) Now --

A. Notary Public someplace else, and the same

witness, and my signature repeated again on a different page.

My son. Yeah, my son is the president of United Corporation.

Q. Now, sir, the Joint Venture Agreement is between

whom?

A. Between -- if you have to look at it this way, --

Q.

A.

No, no, I'm looking --

Q.

-- between me, my partner and him.

No, Mr. Yusuf. Let us look at the Joint Venture

Agreement that was signed.

A. Yeah, I seen it. United Corporation.

Q. Thank you.

A. But I want you please to be aware that my

partner's with me since 1984, and up to now his name is not

25 a 50 percent partner.

Cheryl L. Haase
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FATHI YUSUF CROSS

convince my partner's son, Look, we got $6 million in this

store. This man, we come to an agreement --

Q. We're talking about Sea -Mart.

A. Okay.

Q. So in Sea -Mart, when you negotiated that

transaction that Mr. Idheileh would be able to be out of

Sea -Mart, --

A. Yes.

Q. -- was that based upon the books or just on a

hand shake?

A. There was no book whatsoever. Based on their

conversation.

Q. Okay. Okay. You were asked by Attorney Adams,

when it says United Corporation in this Joint Venture

Agreement, in talking about Plaza Extra, talking about the

supermarket on St. Thomas, who owned or who was partners in

United Corporation Plaza Extra at the time before you entered

into that Joint Venture Agreement?

A. It's always, since 1984, Mohammed Hamed.

Q. Okay. So when it says United Corporation --

A. It's really meant me and Mr. Mohammed Hamed.

Q. Okay.

A. Mr. Idheileh is well aware of that.

Q. Okay. Well, we're talking now Plaza Extra

St. Thomas. Who was responsible for hiring employees?

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8162

FATHI YUSUF .... CROSS .

,. 1 convince my partner's son, Look, we got $6 million in this

2 store. This man, we come to an agreement

3 Q. We're talking about Sea-Mart.

Okay.

So in Sea-Mart, when you negotiated that

6 transaction that Mr. Idheileh would be able to be out of

4 A.

10 hand shake?

11

5 Q.

Yes.

-- was that based upon the books or just on a

There was no book whatsoever. Based on their

r-,
12 conversation.

13

7 Sea-Mart,

8 A.

Okay. Okay. You were asked by Attorney Adams,

14 when it says United Corporation in this Joint Venture

9 Q.

15 Agreement, in talking about Plaza Extra, talking about the

A.

Q.

16 supermarket on St. Thomas, who owned or who was partners in

17 United Corporation Plaza Extra at the time before you entered

18 into that Joint Venture Agreement?

,.,

19

20
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23

24

A.

Q.

A.

Q.

A.

Q.

It's always, since 1984, Mohammed Hamed.

Okay. So when it says United Corporation

It's really meant me and Mr. Mohammed Hamed.

Okay.

Mr. Idheileh is well aware of that.

Okay. Well, we're talking now Plaza Extra

25 St. Thomas. Who was responsible for hiring employees?

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773-8161
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CERTIFICATE

C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E

I, CHERYL L. HAASE, a Registered Professional Reporter

and Notary Public for the U.S. Virgin Islands, Christiansted,

St. Croix, do hereby certify that the above and named witness,

Fathi Yusuf, was first duly sworn to testify

the truth; that said witness did thereupon testify as

is set forth; that the answers of said witness to the

oral interrogatories propounded by counsel were taken

by me in Stenotype and thereafter reduced to typewriting

under my personal direction and supervision.

I further certify that the facts stated in the

caption hereto are true; and that all of the proceedings

in the course of the hearing of said deposition are

correctly and accurately set forth herein.

I further certify that I am not counsel, attorney or

relative of either party, nor financially or otherwise

interested in the event of this suit.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as

such Certified Court Reporter on this the 4th day of

February, 2000, at Christiansted, St. Croix,

United States Virgin Islands.

TIF

Cheryl L. H ase, RPR

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161

96

CERTIFICATE

,, 1 c-E-R-T- I-F- I-C-A-T-E

2

3 I, CHERYL L. HASE, a Registered Professional Reporter

4 and Notary Public for the U. S. Virgin Islands, Christiênsted,

5 St. Croix, do hereby certify that the above and named witness,

6 Fathi Yusuf, was first duly sworn to testify

7 the truth; that said witness did thereupon testify as

8 is set forth; that the answers of said witness to the

9 oral interrogatories propounded by counsel were taken

10 by me in Stenotype and thereafter reduced to typewriting

11 under my personal direction and supervision.

12 I further certify that the facts stated in the
--.

13 caption hereto are true; and that all of the proceedings

14 in the course of the hearing of said deposition are

15 correctly and accurately set forth herein:
16 I further certify that I am not counsel, attorney or
17 relative of either party, nor financially or otherwise

18 interested in the event of this suit.

19 IN WITNSS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as

20 such Certified Court Reporter on this the 4th day of

21 February, 2000, at Christiansted, St. Croix,

22 United States Virgin Islands.

- 24

23

25 Cheryl L. H ase, R~--_'-:

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161
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DECLARATION OF SPECIAL AGENT THOMAS L. PETRI

I, Thomas L. Petri, make this declaration in support of the Government's Response to
Defendants' Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

1 I am employed as a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. I have served
in that capacity for 20 years. I am assigned to the Miami Field Office.

2 I was assigned to the St. Thomas office of the Federal Bureau of Investigation from 2000
through 2006. While stationed on St. Thomas, I was the lead case agent of the
investigation of United Corporation, Fathi Yusuf, Maher Yusuf, Nejeh Yusuf, Waleed
Named, Waheed Hamed, and Isam Yousuf.

3 In the course of that investigation, the government obtained and executed search warrants.
Those searches were conducted at numerous locations throughout the islands, including
the Plaza Extra stores and the homes of the defendants.

4 Evidence seized during he course of those searches was placed in boxes. Numbers were
placed on the boxes to maintain an order.

5 The seized evidence, as well as evidence obtained either consensually or through grand
jury subpoenas, was stored at the upper building of the FBI office in St. Thomas.

6 During the course of the investigation, FBI agents maintained control over the evidence.
It was stored in a conference room in the office. No other materials but the documents
pertinent to the investigation were stored in that room.

7 In 2003, subsequent to the return of the indictment, counsel for defendants was afforded
complete access to seized evidence. Attorney Robert King, the attorney then representing
defendants, reviewed the discovery at the FBI office on St. Thomas. He and a team of
approximately four or five individuals reviewed evidence for several weeks. They
brought with them a copier and made many copies of documents.

8 In 2004, a different set of attorneys presently representing the defendants reviewed the
evidence seized in the course of the execution of the search warrants. By my estimation,
document review team included up to ten people at any one time. The defense team spent
several weeks reviewing the evidence. They had with them at least one copier and one
scanner with which they made numerous copies and images of the evidence.

9 During the 2004 review, the defense team was afforded unfettered access to discovery.
They were permitted to review any box of documents at any time, including evidence
seized during the searches, foreign bank records, documents obtained either consensually
or by grand jury subpoena, and FBI Forms 302. The defense team pulled numerous boxes
at one time with many different people reviewing different documents from different

4420752.1
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boxes.

10 Immediately following the defense team's departure from the FBI premises , I had
occasion to obtain documents from boxes that had been reviewed by the defense team. I
discovered that documents that originally had been placed in one box had been placed in
a different box. I returned the documents to their original boxes. I cannot be certain that
I was able to identify each instance where documents had been misfiled by the defense
team.

11 During the document review in January 2009, Randall Andreozzi requested to review all
documents obtained via subpoena. I explained to him that I could not produce all
evidence at once. That evidence comprises approximately 40 boxes. I asked him for a
specific list of documents, or category of documents that he wished to review. He
declined to identify the records that he wished to review and did not pursue the matter.

I declare under enalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed '`July 8. 2009.

«
honras L. Petri

4420752.1
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMAD HAMED, by his
authorized agent WALEED HAMED,

Plaintiff /Counterclaim Defendant,

vs.

FATHI YUSUF and
UNITED CORPORATION,

Defendants /Counterclaimants,

vs.

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED
HAMED, MUFEED HAMED,
HISHAM HAMED
and PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Counterclaim Defendants.

MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,

vs.

UNITED CORPORATION,

Defendant.

MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,

vs.

FATHI YUSUF,

Defendant.

CIVIL NO. SX -12 -CV -370

ACTION FOR DAMAGES
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND
DECLARATORY RELIEF

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Consolidated With

CIVIL NO. SX -I4 -CY -287

ACTION FOR DAMAGES
AND DECLARATORY
RELIEF

CIVIL NO. SX -I4 -CY -278

ACTION FOR DEBT
AND CONVERSION

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

DECLARATION OF GORDON C. RHEA, ESQ.

I, GORDON C. RHEA, declare under penalty of perjury pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

Section 1746, as follows:

1. I have personal knowledge of the facts set forth herein.

2. I am an attorney licensed to practice law in the U.S. Virgin Islands.

HAM D642159
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Rhea Declaration
Page 2

3. I was one of the defense lawyers in the criminal action filed by the United States

of America in the District Court of the Virgin Islands (St. Thomas Division), Docket No,

1:05 -cr- 00015, against the following defendants:

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF, aka Fathi Yusuf
WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Wally Hamed
WAHEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Willie Hamed
MAHER FATHI YUSUF, aka Mike Yusuf
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF,
ISAM YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION

4. All of the defendants in that criminal case, except for Isam Yousef who was never

apprehended, were represented jointly by multiple counsel, including myself, under a

Joint Defense Agreement.

5. Pursuant to the Joint Defense Agreement, all defense counsel worked together

on behalf of all of the represented defendants in a joint effort to defend the case

6. A plea agreement was reached in December of 2010 (See Exhibit 1), with a

modification made thereafter in early 2011 (See Exhibit 2). As noted therein, the only

defendant who pled guilty was United Corporation, as the charges were dismissed

against all of the other represented defendants.

7. The Joint Defense Agreement then continued during the sentencing phase of

the case (to primarily address the tax issues related to the Plea) until September 19,

2012, when the Joint Defense Agreement was terminated.

8. Under the Joint Defense Agreement;

a. All legal and accounting work was done jointly on behalf of all

represented defendants in an effort to defend all of them at the same

time.

2

HAM D642160
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Rhea Declaration
Page 3

b. Bills for attorneys' fees and expenses reflected the work of counsel

done for all defendants without allocating specific items to individual

defendants.

c. Simply because a bill was directed to a specific defendant did not

reflect their individual personal obligation, as the bills were the joint

obligation of all defendants while the Joint Defense Agreement was in

place.

d. All defendants were all aware of this fact, as applications for payment

of the bills submitted under Joint Defense Agreement had to be made

to the United States Attorney, who would then have to authorize funds

to pay these bills from the defendants' bank accounts which had been

frozen by court order.

e. Until the Joint Defense Agreement was terminated all legal bills were

paid from a United Plaza Extra account,

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Dated: March 1, 2017

3

HAM D642161

Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
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FD-302 (Rev. 1.0-6-95)

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

Date of transcription 08/01/2003

JOHN BENSON IRVIN, 8160 County Road # 64, Daphne,
Alabama, 36526, date of birth 9/8/50, social security account
number , was advised of the nature of the interview and
the identity of the interviewing agent. Also present during the
interview were Javier Bell, Criminal Investigation Division,
Internal Revenue Service and Michael Pauze, Attorney, Department of
Justice. IRVIN provided the following information voluntarily:

IRVIN advised that deposit slips prepared by the women
working in the PLAZA EXTRA cash room at the St. Thomas location
were given to him on a daily basis. IRVIN would update a schedule
for deposits daily. ERIKA SAMUELS, accounts payable, would give
IRVIN the credit-card report on a daily basis and IRVIN would again
update the credit card schedule. Also done on a daily basis was an
update of the telecheck schedule.

Once IRVIN completed the bank reconciliation at the end
of each month, he would prepare the 4% Gross Tax return, filed
monthly. All deposit slips from payroll were deducted from the
gross receipts.

IRVIN was shown a file labeled "1999 -,General Ledger ".
IRVIN stated that the general ledger was not included in the file.
IRVIN said the general ledger should be displayed in the front of
the file with all adjustments made immediately following.

IRVIN was also shown a "Trial Balance as of December 31,
1999 ". IRVIN was asked how the numbers were entered onto the trial
balance sheet. IRVIN advised that entries were made monthly and
that the balance was carried over from month to month. Included in
the trial balance were deposited cash, checks, food coupons and
WIC. Not included were credit card transactions and rebates. Data
from previous years were not accessible once the books were closed
at year end. A printout of the year ending trial balance was
printed out, but the computer program would delete the previous
year once the new year began. The numbers generated from the end
of year trial balance sheet were given to PABLO O'NEILL for income
tax return preparation. To the best of IRVIN'S knowledge, O'NEILL
did not adjust the numbers reflecting gross sales.

'nvestigation on 7/28/03 at St. Thoma s , VI

de #

by Thomas L. Petri

Date dictated N/A

weither recommendations nor conclusions of the FBI. It is the property of the FBI and is loaned to your agency;
Zot to be distributed outside your agency.
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D- 302a (Rev. 10 -6 -95)

265C -SJ -37619 SUB 302

'ontinuation of FD-302 of John Benson Irvin ,On 7/28/03 Jage 2

After the search warrants were executed by the FBI during
October, 2001, IRVIN asked O'NEILL about the cash which was seized.
IRVIN believed that O'NEILL told him that they would address the
cash when it was returned. IRVIN never discussed how the cash
would be handled with anyone but O'NEILL. IRVIN stated that there
was never any adjustments made in the general ledger for the seized
cash. IRVIN stated that he always made adjustments to the general
ledger before the records were turned over to O'NEILL.

IRVIN was told by FATHI YUSUF that store sales would be
based on deposits. IRVIN said that normal accounting procedures
allow accountants to conduct internal audits. IRVIN advised that
YUSUF told him that internal audits were being handled and to
simply continue to use deposits to calculate sales. IRVIN said
that YUSUF told him this early on and that YUSUF was very emphatic.
IRVIN never revisited the subject of sales with YUSUF and continued
to base sales on daily deposits.

IRVIN advised that as an S Corporation, UNITED
CORPORATION did not pay taxes on it's income. UNITED CORPORATION'S
shareholders are required to report and pay taxes on their share of
UNITED CORPORATION's income. IRVIN knew UNITED CORPORATION'S
shareholders to be FATHI YUSUF, his spouse, and five of YUSUF'S
children. IRVIN further stated that since the corporate returns
for 1999 through 2001 were false, it also meant that the individual
returns for the shareholders were also false.

IRVIN was shown copies of seven cash deposit slips
totaling $1.9 million. IRVIN advised that he posted the deposits
in the ledger as stockholder investments. IRVIN said that for
transactions of this nature, he would receive guidance from FATHI
YUSUF. On this occasion, YUSUF specifically told IRVIN to credit
HAMDAN DIAMOND. IRVIN stated that HAMDAN DIAMOND is an oversees
corporation for YUSUF'S brother and that YUSUF is the
administrator. YUSUF often received documents in the mail from
Anguilla for HAMDAN DIAMOND which is how IRVIN knew of the company.
IRVIN did not do any accounting or bookkeeping for HAMDAN DIAMOND
CORPORATION. However, IRVIN did deliver checks to Merrill Lynch
for HAMDAN DIAMOND at FATHI YUSUF'S request. IRVIN said that the
checks were written off against notes payable. In the ledger the
entries were divided between HAMDAN DIAMOND and MOHAMMAD HAMDAN.
IRVIN did not recall why the entries were made as they were. IRVIN
recalled that from time to time, large transactions of this nature
occurred. IRVIN would always ask FATHI YUSUF how they should be
re44oiaded ... . t
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ontinuation of FD-302 of John Benson Irvin ,On 7/28/03 ,Page 4

IRVIN advised that PLAZA EXTRA used a Point of Sales

system. IRVIN stated that he was not allowed to use or access the

system. Only WILLIE HAMED, HISHAM NAMED, and NEJEH YUSUF had
access. A password was required to gain access. IRVIN stated that
he was aware that the Point of Sales system reported accurate store
sales. IRVIN said that there was an understanding that he was not
suppose to have access to true sales figures.

IRVIN was shown copies of February and March of 1999
gross receipts sales tax figures. IRVIN stated that he had a
discussion with FATHI YUSUF concerning cost of goods sold. YUSUF
told IRVIN that it was not possible to determine actual numbers for
cost of goods sold. Per YUSUF'S instructions, IRVIN was told to
determine cost of goods sold in whatever manner would reflect
approximately $3 million in year ending inventory for each
store. IRVIN also had conversations with WILLIE HAMED concerning
cost of goods sold and what the average markup on merchandise was.
IRVIN said that HAMED was not specific but understood that YUSUF
wanted ending inventory to be around $3 million. IRVIN advised
that to determine cost of goods sold he would use a formula
reflecting a 42% markup, or more often than not, simply plug in
numbers so the $3 million number would be met.

IRVIN stated that the reasón YUSUF wanted the number for
inventory to be- around $3 million for each store was to show a
lower net income. If taxable income was too high, YUSUF would tell
IRVIN to adjust cost of goods sold to show a decrease in the
companies profit. IRVIN stated YUSUF normally had him adjust the
numbers presented to him which reflected cost of goods sold.

IRVIN advised that he looked at the corporate tax returns
to insure that PABLO O'NEILL'S numbers matched his. If O'NEILL
made any adjustments, IRVIN requested that they be sent to him so
that he could make corrected entries to match PABLO O'NEILL'S
numbers. IRVIN said that he could think of nó reason why the 4%
Gross Sales Tax figures and the numbers on the general ledgers
would differ from the corporate returns.

Although IRVIN does not have any formal education in tax
accounting, he prepared WILLIE HAMED'S tax returns on a few

occasions. IRVIN used TURBO TAX software to prepare the returns
and he did not sign the return as the preparer. IRVIN gave the
return to HAMED to attach his W -2, sign, and mail to the Internal
Revenue Service.
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Exhibit 12 



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX 

 
WALEED HAMED, as the Executor of )
the Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED, )
    Plaintiff/Counterclaim Deft.,) 
                                 ) 
       vs.                       ) Case No. SX-2012-CV-370 
                                 ) 
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED )
CORPORATION, )
    Defendants/Counterclaimants, ) 
                                 ) 
       vs.                       )   DEPOSITIONS TAKEN: 
                                 )   JANUARY 21, 2020 
WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, )
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and )
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC., )
     Counterclaim Defendants.    ) 
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the ) 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,        ) 
               Plaintiff,        ) 
                                 ) Consolidated with 
       vs.                       ) Case No. SX-2014-CV-287 
                                 ) 
UNITED CORPORATION, Defendant. )
                                 ) 
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the ) 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,        ) 
               Plaintiff,        ) 
                                 ) Consolidated with 
       vs.                       ) Case No. SX-2014-CV-278 
                                 ) 
FATHI YUSUF, Defendant. )
_________________________________) 
FATHI YUSUF, Plaintiff, )
                                 ) Consolidated with 
       vs.                       ) Case No. ST-17-CV-384   
                                 ) 
MOHAMMAD A. HAMD TRUST, et al., )
               Defendants.       ) 
KAC357 Inc., Plaintiff, )
                                 ) Consolidated with 
       vs.                       ) Case No. ST-18-CV-219   
                                 ) 
HAMED/YUSUF PARTNERSHIP, )
                                 ) 
               Defendant.        )      
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THE VIDEOTAPED ORAL DEPOSITIONS OF FATHI YUSUF,  

MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF, WALEED "WALLY" HAMED, NEJEH YUSUF, 

MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED,  AND JOHN GAFFNEY 

was taken on the 21st day of January, 2020, at the Law 

Offices of Joel H. Holt, 2132 Company Street, The Alcove 

Room, Christiansted, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, between 

the hours of 10:00 a.m. and 5:09 p.m., pursuant to Notice 

and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

                    ____________________ 

 

Reported by: 
 

Susan C. Nissman RPR-RMR 
Registered Merit Reporter 
Caribbean Scribes, Inc. 

2132 Company Street, Suite 3 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00820 

(340) 773-8161 
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APPEARANCES

 
A-P-P-E-A-R-A-N-C-E-S 

 
 
For the Plaintiffs:                
 
Law Offices of 
Joel H. Holt                                                
2132 Company Street, Suite 2 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00820 
 
By:  Joel H. Holt                               
 

and 

 
Carl J. Hartmann, III 
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L6 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00820 

By:  Carl J. Hartmann, III 
     Kim Japinga 
 

 

 

For the Defendants: 

 
Law Offices of 
DNF                                                          
Law House 
P.O. Box 756 
Charlotte Amalie, St. Thomas 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00802 
 
By:  Charlotte Perrell                           

 

Also Present:  Michael Gelardi, Videographer 
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Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161

MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

generated it.

Q. Okay.  And do you remember who the accountant was

back in 1996?

A. Well, looking up here, it's Ben, Ben Irvin --

Q. Okay.  So --

A. -- at that time.

Q. Okay.

A. Yeah.

Q. So Ben Irvin was the accountant for the tenant

account, or was you just an accountant for United,

generally?

A. He was for United, generally.  

Q. Okay.

A. Comptroller, we call it.

Q. Okay.  And he would have had access to the tenant,

or at least knowledge of what was going on in the tenant

account?

A. Yes.  He -- he kept records of everything, yes.

Q. Okay.  And then -- but would he have signatory

authority for --

A. No.

Q. Okay.  So the -- then let me back up here.

For the amounts that were transferred over,

the -- let's say -- let's go about the first one, the

15,900, do you have any particular recollection as to why

 1
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Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161

MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

there was a transfer for 15,900 to Plaza partnership

account?

A. We -- we -- this is in 1996.

Q. Yes.

A. 1996, I know we were -- were tight, really, really

tight for money.

Q. Okay.

A. And when we had extra money in the tenant account,

we would transfer it over to the Plaza account.

Q. Okay.  Was that for helping with operating

expenses, or what was the purpose of transferring?

A. With helping with operating expenses, I believe.

Q. Okay.  All right.

MR. HARTMANN:  Let me -- excuse me.  Just let

me make a continuing -- I won't interrupt anymore.  I'll

just make a continuing objection on foundation and

authenticity.

     Q.   (Ms. Perrell) All right.  Other than -- let me ask

you this:  So this one is a specific amount, 15,900.

Do you have -- let me ask you, what would

have -- first of all, do you have any recollection of this

particular entry?

A. No.  I don't have recollection of the amounts, no.

Q. Okay.  How would you know what transfers to make

and the amounts to make?
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Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161

MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

A. I don't remember who it was told from to transfer

it.

Q. Okay.  Would it have -- okay.  So who are the

possible people that would have told you to do the transfer?

A. It could be Wally or Ben Irvin.

Q. Okay.  All right.  And if Ben Irvin had access to

at least see both accounts, he would know whether the Plaza

Extra East was low?

A. Right.

Q. Okay.  And then the -- the -- would that be the

same with all of the other amounts that were transferred

over to the Plaza store?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay.  Other than 1996, do you recall any other

times where there were amounts going from the Plaza

United -- I'm sorry, from the United tenant account into the

Plaza Extra partnership account?  When you were doing these

transfers back and forth, do you recall that?

A. No, no, these are all the checks going into --

directly to the -- the operating account for Plaza.

Q. Okay.  Other than in 1996 -- these are just 1996.

A. Right.

Q. Other than 1996, there seem to be quite -- it

happened regularly.  Other than 1996, was that something

that was occurring?
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Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161

MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

A. I don't remember.

Q. Okay.

A. I don't remember.  I mean, I was dependent on Ben

Irvin to keep the record with the -- with the tenant

account.

Q. Okay.  All right.  All right.  And you're not

aware of any other records that would reflect transfers

going from the tenant account into the Plaza Extra

partnership account?

A. No.

Q. Okay.  All right.  And just to be clear, you would

have been the one person who would have either been

signing -- you're saying these are checks, right, because

there's a check number?

A. Yeah, yeah.  I would be the one that signs them.

I don't think -- either me or my dad, but my dad wasn't

here.

Q. Okay.

A. He was not in St. Croix.  And if he came, he came

for the weekend and went, but that's about it.

Q. Okay.  All right.  With regard to these amounts,

would this have been information that -- well, let me ask

you this:  Why would those -- you know, it's almost

$188,000, why was that amount not settled and paid back to

United before all of this dispute arose?
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C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E 

     I, SUSAN C. NISSMAN, a Registered Merit Reporter  

and Notary Public for the U.S. Virgin Islands, 

Christiansted, St. Croix, do hereby certify that the above 

and named witnesses, FATHI YUSUF, MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF, WALEED 

"WALLY" HAMED, NEJEH YUSUF, MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED, and JOHN 

GAFFNEY, were first duly sworn to testify the truth; that 

said witnesses did thereupon testify as is set forth; that 

the answers of said witnesses to the oral interrogatories 

propounded by counsel were taken by me in stenotype and 

thereafter reduced to typewriting under my personal 

direction and supervision. 

     I further certify that the facts stated in the caption  

hereto are true; and that all of the proceedings in the 

course of the hearing of said deposition are correctly and  

accurately set forth herein. 

     I further certify that I am not counsel, attorney or 

relative of either party, nor financially or otherwise  

interested in the event of this suit. 

     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as such  

Registered Merit Reporter on this the 22nd day of February, 

2020, at Christiansted, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands.   

 
                        _______________________________           
 
My Commission Expires:     Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR 
June 28, 2023                      NP 234-19 
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Plaza Extra 22414C & D Estate Sion Farm
C'sted, St. Croix, V.I. 00821
Tel: (340) 778-6240
Fax: (340) 778-1200

#14 Estate Plessen
F'sted, St. Croix, V.I. 00841
Tel: (340) 719-1870
Fax: (340) 719 -1874

'Vs

Order No.

Date
Account /Name, 6Cw /
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All claims and returned items MUST be accompanied by this invoice
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Plaza extra 17184C & D Estate Sion Farm
C'sted, St. Croix, V.I. 00821
Tel: (340) 778 -6240
Fax: (340) 778 -1200

#14 Estate Plessen
F'sted, St. Croix, V.I. 00841
Tel: (340) 719 -1870
Fax: (340) 719 -1874

Order No
DateAccount

Name,

Address y
Phone ,/ SOLD $Y

CASH COD
CHECK

CHARGE \

J/ OUAN
DESCRIPTION

PRICE AMOUNT

OVIF

VIr

V

449 -0803
?g pp

Received by

All claims and returned items MUST be accompanied by this Invoice
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Plaza Extra
4C & D Estate Sion Farm

171
C'sted, St. Croix, V.I. 00821
Tel: (340) 778 -6240
Fax: (340) 778 -1200

#14 Estate Plessen
F'sted, St. Croix, V.I. 00841
Tel: (340) 719 -1870
Fax: (340) 719 -1874

Order No Date UPI) Ö'O/
Account
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SOLD BY CASH C 0 D CHECK CHARGE

J

\
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WA '
If / r
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VI,1
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Received by (1 Q + S rt At oA

AU claims and returned items MUST be accompanied by this invoice
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Contract No: GS-10E-00805
rder. No: D3MS-04AFO-P-0013

March 2005
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MADISON ASSOCIATES, INC.

NINETY -DAY MONITORING REPORT
BUSINESS MONITORING SERVICES

UNITED CORPORATION
VIRGIN ISLANDS

FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD
DECEMBER 2004 - FEBRUARY 2005

1.0 ACTIVITES COMPLETED DURING REPORTING PERIOD
The sectionsthat follow highlight the activities completed during the reporting
period.

1.1 MEETING WITH COTR REGARDING AMENDING
MONITORING PLAN

On December20, 2004 representatives of MAXIMUS, Inc. ( MAXIMUS) and
Madison Associates, Inc. (MAI) met with the Contracting Officer's Technical
Representative (COTR) to discuss implementation of the Business Monitoring
Plan in 200}5. During the meeting, the COTR expressed a desire to reduce the
current number of Monitors being used under the current Business Monitoring
Plan in order to conserve government costs in 2005. The COTE.expressed a
desire to eliminate the Monitor's position on St. Croix and allow one Monitor,
stationed on St. Thomas, to cover the activities of United Corporation (UC) on
both islands by traveling to St. Croix once a week. The representatives agreed to
develop an Amended Business Monitoring Plan that would reducecosts but
advised that elimination of one of the two Monitor positions being used underthe
current Plan would, by necessity, reduce the physical presence in monitoring the
daily routine of UC operations and shift analytical responsibilities. On January
11, 2005, a draft of an Amended Business Monitoring Plan wasprovided to the
COTE. for discussion.

1.2 SECOND AMENDED MONITORING PLAN
On January 18, 2005 the COTE. and representatives of MAXIMUS and MAI held
a teleconference to discuss proposed changes to the Business Monitoring Plan, as
requested by the COTE.. Following these discussions a new, amended Business
Monitoring Plan was drafted.

1.3 COTE. ON -SITE VISIT TO VIRGIN ISLANDS
The COTE., representatives of MAXIMUS, and the MAI Project Director visited
the Virgin Islands from January 24 through 27, 2005, to conduct an on -site visit
of the businesses of UC. During the visit, the following items were reviewed

Use of United Funds in Construction of Rouse: After viewing the house
and realizing that the amount needed to complete the construction as
estimated by the owners earlier in the year was not going to be sufficient, the
COTR authorized additional funding of $13,000 for landscaping expenses.
This brings the total amount authorized to $277,000.

NINETY DAY MONITORING REPORT UNITED CORPORATION
DECEMBER 2004 - FEBRUARY 2005 1. U.S, VIRGIN ISLANDS
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MADISON ASSOCIATES, INC.

2.0 ISSUES AND INFORMATION BROUGHT TO THE
ATTENTION OF THE COTR

The sections that follow present issues brought to the attention of the COTR
during the reporting period.

2.1 PROPOSED LAUNDROMAT AT THE ST. CROIX
SHOPPING CENTER

An additional $12, 270 was expended in January toward completion of the
laundromat project, bringing the total expended to $168,006. The COTR
discussed the operation of the laundromat with Mr. Mike Yusuf and Mr. Alan
Mallory during his visit in January. At that time Mr. Yusuf agreed to transfer all
shams of "M and M Laundry, Inc." corporation to DC. See discussion of
CO -TR's visit, supra.

The laundromat opened for business on January 31, 2005. Documents were
presented to the Monitor indicating that all 100 shares of common stock in M and
M.Laundry, Inc., the entity that is represented as owning the laundromat, were
transferred to UC. In addition, a copy of IRS Form 2553 was presented
indicating that M and M Laundry, Inc. had elected to be treated as a Small
Business Corporation. Copies of these documents wem provided to the COTR
on February 13; 2005: The documents wereìnade available by UC management
in response to issues raised by the COTE. regarding the opening of a bank
account in the name of M and M Laundry, Inc. On February 23, 2005 Mr.
Mallory, the shopping center manager, provided the COTE. with a copy of a letter
dated February 22, 2005 expressing Mr. Mallory's intent to open the new bank
account with the understanding that the account would be subject to the
constraints of the Temporary Restraining Order. On February 24, 2005 the
COTE. concurred in the procedures that will be used to monitor the laundromat
activities.

On March .5y 2005 the COTE. provided a letter addressed to a Senior Manager of
the Bank of Nova Scotia, St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands, requesting access to
the account of M and M Laundry, Inc. The letter was drafted as a result of a
request we received from the Senior Manager who was reluctant to provide
access to the bank information without a formal request. The letter was
personally delivered to the Manager on March 11, 2005.

2.2 SUSPICIOUS WESTERN UNION TRANSACTIONS
On January 7, 2005 a series of Western Union money orders were purchased
from the St. Croix Plaza Extra West store in a manner sufficiently unusual to
bring it to the COTR's attention. Beginning at approximately 10:00 a.m. four
different pairs of men purchased money orders at the store in cash. Each pair
purchased a money order and left the store. Shortly thereafter, another pair
would enter the store and conduct a similar transaction. They repeated this
process until they had made a total of 24 purchases worth the sum of $11,775
over.a 3 hour period. Although identification is not required to purchase a
money order, store personnel identified the men as a part of a group that
regularly "hangs out" at a gas station near the store. The purchased money orders
were all blank as to the payee. Due to the unusual nature of the pattern of

NINETY -DAY MONITORING REPORT 3 UNITED CORPORATION
DECEMBER 1, 2004 - FEBRUARY 26, 2005 U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS
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MADISON ASSOCIATES, INC.

purchases, Plaza Extra store management has decided not to sell Western Union '
money orders to these individuals in the future.
On January 8, 2005 in a totally unrelated transaction, a Ms. Aida Yusuf came
into the St. Croix Plaza Extra West store and requested that. $8,000 in cash be
wired to Amjad Yusuf in Miami, Florida. Western Union refused an initial
attempt at sending this money, as a transaction in that amount requires that the
registered Western Union agent at the location approve the transactions. Sean
Hamid, who is the registered agent at the store, was not available at the time so
the store employee handling Western Union transactions suggested that the
transaction be broken down into smaller amounts. The transaction was then
processed by the transfer of the moneyin five smaller amounts.

Shortly after the last transmission, Western Union contacted the store and
informed them that the transaction as completed was a violation of Western
Union policy sa well as possibly being criminal in nature. Store personnel
involved in the transaction stated that they were not aware that it was a violation
to "break down" transactions in this manner and were only, doing it as an
accommodation to: a customer who wanted to complete the transaction quickly to
be able to attend the Island's Three Kings Celebration. Store management also
stated that they were unaware of this transaction and would take steps to insure
that this type of action does not occur hi the future. Store management also
assured the Monitor that the person conducting this transaction and the intended
recipient was unknown to them.
No additional suspicious transactions were reported or observed during the
reporting period_:

23 RESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION COST
Store management has reported that construction of the residence is substantially
complete. During the visit of the COTR in January, he approved the use of an
additional $13,000 in UC funds for landscaping expenses, bringing the total
approvedamountto $277,000.

2.4 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
On December 22, 2004 the COTR was informed of a request from store
management to spend up to $15,000 on new shelves for the St. Croix Plaza Extra
East store. The shelves were to be a part of the improvements made to make
Plaza Extra more competitive with a new Cost -U -Less store being built near the
store. That same date the COTR approved the expenditure as requested. On
January 11, 2005 the St. Croix Plaza Extra East store issued Check No. 27725 to
Ypson Alliance Warehouse in the amount of $6,319.76 to purchase store
shelving to begin this project.

2.5 LIABILITY INSURANCE
On December 8, 2004 the COTR was advised that UC made a settlement offer in
a civil suit brought against the corporation by Elwood Thomas, a delivery man
who was run over by a fork lift in the warehouse area of the St. Croix Plaza Extra
East store. The attorney for Mr. Thomas originally sought damages of over
$800,000 for the physical injuries suffered in the accident. UC offered to settle
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MADISON ASSOCIATES, INC.;

3.13 ACTIVITY NO. .13 -TRACK AND RECONCILE THE USE OF
CERTAIN FUNDS IN COMPLETING A RESIDENCE ON ST
THOMAS

Store management reported that construction of the residence is substantially
complete. However, additional funds may be needed to fund final landscaping
costs. During the COTR's January 2005 visit he approved the use of an
additional. $13,000 in UC funds for landscaping expenses, increasing the total
approved amount to $277,000. In preparing this report it was determined that the
cumulative total of funds approved for completing the residence that was
previously reported as $252,000 did not reflect the $25,000 approved early, in
November 2004.
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMED HAMED by His Authorized )

Agent WALEED HAMED, )

Plaintiff /Counterclaim Defendant, )

vs. ) Case No. SX -12 -CV -370

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, )

Defendants /Counterclaimants, )

vs. )

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, MUFEED )

HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and PLESSEN )

ENTERPRISES, INC., )

Additional Counterclaim Defendants.)

THE VIDEOTAPED ORAL DEPOSITION OF FATHI YUSUF

was taken on the 2nd day of April, 2014, at the Law Offices

of Adam Hoover, 2006 Eastern Suburb, Christiansted,

St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, between the hours of

9:17 a.m. and 4:16 p.m., pursuant to Notice and Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure.

Reported by:

Cheryl L. Haase
Registered Professional Reporter

Caribbean Scribes, Inc.
2132 Company Street, Suite 3

Christiansted, St. Croix U.S.V.I.
(340) 773 -8161
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APPEARANCES

A-P-P-E-A-R-A-N-C-E-S

For the Plaintiff /Counterclaim Defendant:

Law Offices of
Joel H. Holt
2132 Company Street
Suite 2
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Joel H. Holt

and

Law Offices of
Carl Hartmann, III
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L6
Christiansted, U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Carl Hartmann, III

For the Defendant /Counterclaimants

Law Offices of
Dudley, Topper & Feuerzeig
P.O. Box 756
Charlotte Amalie, St. Thomas
U.S. Virgin Islands 00804

By: Gregory H. Hodges

and

Law Offices of
Nizar A. DeWood
2006 Eastern Suburbs, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00830

By: Nizar A. DeWood

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161
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For Waleed Hamed:

Law Offices of
Eckard, P.C.
P.O. Box 24849
Christiansted, VI 00824

By: Mark W. Eckard

For Fathi Yusuf:

Law Offices of
K. Glenda Cameron
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: K. Glenda Cameron

Also Present:

Josiah Wynans, Videographer
Kim Japinga
Waleed Hamed
Hisham Hamed
Mufeed Hamed
Maher Yusuf

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- DIRECT

use for my personal expense and need.

Q. Okay. But the intent of -- of the agreement was

that 50 percent of the net profits of the three Plaza Extra

stores would belong 50 percent to Yusuf and 50 percent to

Hamed.

A. That is correct.

Q. Okay. And that would also apply to the net

profits that have yet to be distributed, such as the

money --

A. Yes.

Q. -- at the Banco Popular account?

A. After we go and sees who and who takes who, if I

take ten dollars more than them, and I take ten, they have

the right to take it. That's when we go to the book and

reconciliate our account between each other.

But up to now, unfortunate, we have never

done that since the past 25 years. Only, I'm sorry, up to

December 31st, 1993. That books was closed by that day. We

was even on that day, on whatever left Plaza Extra. But we

still a 50- percent joint venture in whatever left inside the

store, what is accounts receivable or accounts payable.

Q. And that's true up through today?

A. Excuse me, sir?

Q. And that's true up through today?

A. Up to now.

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773 -8161
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CERTIFICATE

C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E

I, CHERYL L. HAASE, a Registered Professional Reporter

and Notary Public No. NP- 158 -03 for the U.S. Virgin Islands,

Christiansted, St. Croix, do hereby certify that the above

and named witness, FATHI YUSUF, was first duly sworn to

testify the truth; that said witness did thereupon testify

as is set forth; that the answers of said witness to the

oral interrogatories propounded by counsel were taken by me

in Stenotype and thereafter reduced to typewriting under my

personal direction and supervision.

I further certify that the facts stated in the caption

hereto are true; and that all of the proceedings in the

course of the hearing of said deposition are correctly and

accurately set forth herein.

I further certify that I am not counsel, attorney or

relative of either party, nor financially or otherwise

interested in the event of this suit.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as such

Certified Court Reporter on this the 3rd day of May, 2014,

at Christiansted, St. Croix, United States Virgin Islands.

Cheryl L. Haase, RPR
My Commission Expires 2/10/16
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	HAMED’S OPPOSITION TO UNITED’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT RE
	CLAIM Y-9: UNREIMBURSED TRANSFERS TO PARTNERSHIP FROM UNITED
	I. Introduction
	II. Hamed’s Counter-Statement of Material Facts (HCSOF)
	Money Laundering
	9. Beginning at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at least in or about September, 2002, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and UNITED defrauded the Virgin Islands of money in the form of tax revenue, spe...
	*  *  *  *
	11. Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and UNITED directed and caused Plaza Extra employees to withhold from deposit substantial amounts of cash received from sales, typically bills in denominations of $100, $50 and $20. Instead of bei...
	12. In this way, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and UNITED caused the filing of dozens of false monthly gross receipts tax returns, which failed to report the cash withheld from deposit as gross receipts, thereby depriving the Virg...
	*  *  *  *
	17. Defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED caused the checks and money orders described above to be deposited into foreign bank accounts they controlled. For example, defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED compiled the various checks and money order...
	*  *  *  *
	19. Defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED smuggled and caused to be smuggled millions of dollars of unreported cash from the Virgin Islands to the island of St. Martin, in the French West Indies, where it was deposited into accounts at Banque Franca...
	A. [MIKE YUSUF]  2001, that's the -- the year that we had the raid.
	Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . .What -- approximately what date?
	A. October 23rd of 2001.
	*    *    *    *
	A. Okay. Sometime I would say a month and a half to
	two months before that, Waleed got a call from Waheed saying
	that something is going on. Some kind of agency is coming
	to spot check us, look at us. I -- I don't know the details
	of that. So among us, at that time, it was me, Mufeed and
	Waleed in the Plaza Extra East. . .
	the store in West was open at that
	time.
	So I left my store, and I came to East to --
	*    *    *    *
	We just heard through the grapevine,
	something is happening. We didn't know.
	So between among us, we decided to destroy
	some of the receipts, because they were all in cash. We
	pulled out a good bit of receipts from the safes in Plaza
	East. Mufeed was present with me. He had a whole, a heap
	of receipts for the Hameds only. It could be from either
	one of the Hameds, once it's the Hamed. And receipts from
	the Yusuf, which basically was just me, not, you know,
	nobody else.
	Mufeed, I guess you call it, tallied, and,
	you know, put a tape on what they withdraw, and I put a
	tally, a tape, on what I withdraw.
	*    *    *    *
	Once everything dropped to the penny, we were
	fine, I said, Listen. I'm destroying my receipts. (Exhibit 4)
	According to the indictment, from "at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at least in or about September 2002, defendant[] . . . UNITED defrauded the Virgin Islands of money in the form of tax revenue, specifically territ...
	*  *  *  *
	The scheme to skim funds from the stores (i.e. removal of funds from sales receipts before those funds are accounted for and taxes paid on them) is a classic white collar/business crime in which the purpose is to hide those funds from the governmental...
	The most fundamental feature of such a scheme is that the actual accounting records of the entity do not, and in fact cannot, accurately reflect the amount of cash taken in. No proper accounting can be determined from the Company's financial records b...
	It is critical that the parties have both admitted that many records of transaction that should have gone into any accurate accounting were not kept or mutually and intentionally destroyed. For example, in his deposition, Mike Yusuf, President of Unit...
	Fathi Yusuf and Mohammad Hamed were Partners since 1984
	2. My brother in law, Mohamed Hamed, and I have been full partners in the Plaza Extra Supermarket since 1984 while we were obtaining financing and constructing the store, which finally opened in 1986. (Exhibit 7)
	3. I was one of the defense lawyers in the criminal action filed by the United States of America in the District Court of the Virgin Islands (St. Thomas Division), Docket No,1:05-cr-00015, against the following defendants:
	FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF, aka Fathi Yusuf
	WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Wally Hamed
	WAHEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Willie Hamed
	MAHER FATHI YUSUF, aka Mike Yusuf
	NEJEH FATHI YUSUF,
	ISAM YUSUF, and
	UNITED CORPORATION
	4. All of the defendants in that criminal case, except for Isam Yousef who was never apprehended, were represented jointly by multiple counsel, including myself, under a Joint Defense Agreement.
	5. Pursuant to the Joint Defense Agreement, all defense counsel worked together on behalf of all of the represented defendants in a joint effort to defend the case. (Exhibit 10)
	IRVIN was told by FATHI YUSUF that store sales would be based on deposits. IRVIN said that normal accounting procedures allow accountants to conduct internal audits. IRVIN advised that YUSUF told him that internal audits were being handled and to simp...
	IRVIN advised that PLAZA EXTRA used a Point of Sales system. IRVIN stated that he was not allowed to use or access the system. . . .IRVIN stated that he was aware that the Point of Sales system reported accurate store sales. IRVIN said that there was ...
	15. In that same August 1, 2003 FBI interview, Ben Irvin also stated he was instructed at times to make the inventory for a particular year come out to a set number.  For instance, in February and March 1999, he was told by Fathi Yusuf to make the inv...
	IRVIN was shown copies of February and March of 1999 gross receipts sales tax figures. IRVIN stated that he had a discussion with FATHI YUSUF concerning cost of goods sold. YUSUF told IRVIN that it was not possible to determine actual numbers for cost...
	IRVIN stated that the reason YUSUF wanted the number for inventory to be around $3 million for each store was to show a lower net income. If taxable income was too high, YUSUF would tell IRVIN to adjust cost of goods sold to show a decrease in the com...
	IRVIN advised that he looked at the corporate tax returns to insure that PABLO O'NEILL'S numbers matched his. If O'NEILL made any adjustments, IRVIN requested that they be sent to him so that he could make corrected entries to match PABLO O'NEILL'S nu...
	Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .For the amounts that were transferred over,
	the -- let's say -- let's go about the first one, the
	15,900, do you have any particular recollection as to why
	there was a transfer for 15,900 to Plaza partnership
	account? (193:23-194:2)
	* * * *
	Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . .So this one is a specific amount, 15,900.
	Do you have -- let me ask you, what would
	have -- first of all, do you have any recollection of this
	particular entry?
	A. [MIKE YUSUF] No. I don't have recollection of the amounts, no.
	* * * *
	Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .Other than 1996, do you recall any other
	times where there were amounts going. . .
	from the United tenant account into the
	Plaza Extra partnership account? When you were doing these
	transfers back and forth, do you recall that?
	A. [MIKE YUSUF] No, no, these are all the checks going into --
	directly to the -- the operating account for Plaza.
	Q. . . . .Other than in 1996 -- these are just 1996.
	A. Right.
	Q. Other than 1996, there seem to be quite -- it
	happened regularly. Other than 1996, was that something
	that was occurring?
	A. I don't remember.
	* * * *
	A. I don't remember. I mean, I was dependent on Ben
	Irvin to keep the record with the -- with the tenant
	account. (Exhibit 12)
	18. Money flowed like water between these entities, directed by Fathi Yusuf, who routinely used Partnership funds to pay for expenses for the Yusuf family-owned United Shopping Center expenses and personal matters.  (Group Exhibit 13)
	19. The federal monitors, brought in to provide oversight on United’s financials during the pendency of the criminal case, allowed expenditures to be made out of the Yusuf family-owned tenant account and the Partnership bank accounts, despite those ac...
	No agreement, history or course of dealing for United to claim special treatment
	The thrust of this inquiry arises from the fact that each time Yusuf or United is found to have taken Partnership funds for their own uses, they argue that there was a "special arrangement" or an unwritten provision of the "Partnership Agreement" that...
	But, absent a written agreement, what are the "terms" of the partnership? Missing or unclear terms are supplied by the Act. See 26 V.I.C. § 44 (Effect of partnership agreement; nonwaivable provisions.)
	(a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (b) of this section, relations among the partners and between the partners and the partnership are governed by the partnership agreement. To the extent the partnership agreement does not otherwise provide...
	See, e.g., Bunnell v. Lewis, No. 05-92-02558-CV, 1993 WL 290781, at *5 (Tex. App. July 27, 1993), writ denied (Mar. 9, 1994) ("A partnership is an association of two or more persons to carry on a business for profit as co-owners. . . . In the absence ...
	Fortunately, once a partnership is determined to exist, one partner cannot make up, "explain" or dictate the rights, relative authority and power of the partners -- as these are set by statute in the Virgin Islands:
	26 V.I.C. § 71 Partner's rights and duties
	* * * *
	(f) Each partner has equal rights in the management and conduct of the partnership business. Id. at 4.
	ORDERED that the Master is directed to proceed to conduct such evidentiary proceedings as are deemed appropriate to make factual findings necessary to permit full consideration of the claims of the partners, including the determination of the duties, ...
	22. Fathi Yusuf testified in his deposition on April 2, 2014, that the only time the Partners reconciled the Partnership accounts between them was on December 31, 1993.
	A. [FATHI YUSUF] After we go and sees who and who takes who, if I
	take ten dollars more than them, and I take ten, they have
	the right to take it. That's when we go to the book and
	reconciliate our account between each other.
	But up to now, unfortunate, we have never
	done that since the past 25 years. Only, I'm sorry, up to
	December 31st, 1993. That books was closed by that day. We
	was even on that day, on whatever left Plaza Extra. (Exhibit 15)
	23. Fathi Yusuf has not provided any evidence of a written or oral agreement between him and Mohammad Hamed to have the Partnership’s books reconciled in United’s favor at Fathi Yusuf’s discretion.
	III. Argument
	United’s motion for summary judgment with respect to claim Y-9—Unreimbursed transfers should be denied for three distinct procedural reasons and the claim should be found as untimely filed and outside of the SOL pertaining to the claim:
	1. United did not file its claim within the timeframe required by Judge Brady’s January 9, 2015 Wind Up Order and the Special Master’s August 31, 2016 directive.
	2. Even if it is assumed that United filed its claim within the requirements set forth by Judge Brady and Special Master, the claim is untimely under Judge Brady’s July 25, 2017 Order re Limitations on Accounting, which bars claims occurring prior to ...
	3. United’s claim is outside of the normal statute of limitations.
	A. United did not file its claims within the timeframe set forth by the Special Master
	Pursuant to the "Final Wind Up Plan Of The Plaza Extra Partnership," entered on January 9, 2015 (the "Plan"), § 9, Step 6, and the August 31, 2016 directive of the Master, as clarified on September 22, 2016, any entity or party with a claim was requir...
	On September 30, 2016, Defendant/counterclaimant Fathi Yusuf (“Yusuf') submitted his Accounting Claims and Proposed Distribution Plan (the "Claim"). United did not do so. United claims that it has some rights or claims as a totally distinct third-par...
	B. United’s claims are barred by Judge Brady’s July 25th, 2017 Order re Limitations on Accounting
	ORDERED that the accounting in this matter, to which each partner is entitled under 26 V.I.C § 177(b), conducted pursuant to the Final Wind Up Plan adopted by the Court, shall be limited in scope to consider only those claimed credits and charges to p...
	Under Judge Brady’s Order, United’s claim is barred because all of the transactions in claim Y-9-Unreimbursed Transfers occurred in 1998 or earlier. (United Exhibits 9, 9A, 11, 13 and 15)
	C. United’s claims are barred by the Statute of Limitations (SOL) – 5 V.I.C. §31(3)
	United also claims that it is not bound by Judge Brady’s July 25th, 2017 SOL/laches Order because it is not one of the parties to the Partnership.  If that is true, United is subject to the normal statute of limitations applicable to any civil litigan...
	D. United does not enjoy “special benefits” exempting it from the SOL
	In June 25, 2018 Order, Judge Brady noted that thus far in the case, “no findings have been made detailing with specificity the duties, responsibilities, benefits and obligations of each partner, including whether any benefits are due United and its s...
	United has not produced any evidence, other than Fathi Yusuf’s self-serving affidavit, that there was an agreement between the Partners that allowed United avoid the statute of limitations on demands for repayment made to the Partnership. Mr. Mohammad...
	United tries to springboard the Partnership’s payment of rent as evidence that United was not bound by statute of limitations and could demand payment for alleged debts from the Partnership at any time.  This is simply untrue.  The Court found the ren...
	E. The Partnership’s accounting prior to 2001 is unreliable and not trustworthy
	1. The Partnership operated a vast and widespread money laundering scheme, rendering its accounting unreliable
	The method used here, removal of funds prior to their being reported as sales, can be accomplished by several means, some of which were used here, to wit: those acting on behalf of the Company took cash out of sales before the Company could properly a...
	The most fundamental feature of such a scheme is that the actual accounting records of the entity do not, and in fact cannot, accurately reflect the amount of cash taken in. No proper accounting can be determined from the Company's financial records b...
	During the time these claims were made, the US federal government estimated that the stores made over $60 million in unreported income. (HCSOF  1, 5) Further, there were no financial controls on Partnership’s accounting. (HCSOF  14) Finally, Mike ...
	Given the unreliable nature of the Partnership’s accounting, United cannot meet its burden of proof to show that the “transfers” of funds are actually owed United. 1) United can’t prove that the funds in its tenant account were generated from the Sho...
	2. The work product of the Partnership’s controller, Ben Irvin, was untrustworthy
	Contrary to Yusuf’s assertions, there was an entity in 2004 and 2008 – the Partnership.  In 1999 and again in 2000, Fathi Yusuf stated under oath that he and Mr. Mohammad Hamed had been partners since 1984. (HCSOF  9-10) Further, during the pendency...
	Yusuf seems to contend that the criminal case was somehow a bar to United complying with the SOL. There is no legal support for this contention and no factual basis. There is no such doctrine. See below to response to same argument with regard to YSOF...
	YSOF #3.  3. Judge Brady ruled in an April 27, 2015 Opinion and Order that United was entitled to rent for Bay 1 for the 1994 to 2004 time period in the amount of $3,999,679.73, notwithstanding Hamed’s statute of limitations defense. April 27, 2015 Op...
	YSOF #4. Hurricane Marilyn struck the islands in September 1995, and the partnership was “absolutely broke” as a result in 1996. See Exhibit 1, 1/21/20 Dep. Tr., p. 239 (testimony of Fathi Yusuf). Because the partnership was in dire need of cash in 19...
	YSOF #5. United’s comptroller, Ben Irvin, prepared monthly ledgers for United’s tenant account which reflected the activity in the account including payments made from United’s tenant account and reconciled this activity with the Community Bank monthl...
	And
	YSOF #6.  Additional monthly ledgers were prepared in 1995, 1997 and 1998 showing amounts paid from United’s tenant account to a Plaza Extra (partnership) account. See Exhibits 6, 10 and 13. These were prepared by Ben Irvin or at his direction as he s...
	The most fundamental feature of such a scheme is that the actual accounting records of the entity do not, and in fact cannot, accurately reflect the amount of cash taken in. No proper accounting can be determined from the Company's financial records b...
	Indeed, even Mike Yusuf, President of United, couldn’t testify as to the reasons for the transfer of funds to Plaza. (HCSOF  17) He also testified that some of the Partnership’s financial records had been destroyed in 2001. (HCSOF  6)
	YSOF #9. The theory of the prosecution was that United Corporation, a corporation owned by Fathi Yusuf and his family members—and not an undocumented, oral Hamed/Yusuf partnership— owned and operated the Plaza Extra supermarkets and was responsible fo...
	YSOF #11. When the FBI conducted its raid on the stores in September 2001, it seized thousands of documents, including the documents attached to this opposition as Exhibits 9, 9A and 10. The index of the FBI Bates numbers is over 881 pages long and li...
	by United and Yusuf’s former counsel, Joseph DiRuzzo on August 1, 2013. Id. The FBI bates numbers typically follow the same format of: three digits – four digits. Id. Relevant to this motion, those documents reflecting the ledgers and Community Bank r...
	some time in 2011, as part of a voluminous and very disorganized FBI hard drive. See Exhibit 12, 8.
	YSOF #12. Judge Brady found in a 2017 opinion that Yusuf was the managing partner in charge of the finances of the partnership. See Hamed v. Yusuf, 69 V.I. 168, 175, n.4 (V.I. Super. 2017) (finding that “Yusuf acted as the managing partner” and that H...
	YSOF #13. The amounts paid or advanced to or on behalf of Plaza Extra from United’s tenant account (and backed up by Exhibits 9, 9A, 10 and 13 and other evidence cited herein) are listed in Exhibit 15, by payment amount and by date for all of the amou...
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